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written to be used, and cannot be used, for the purpose of (i) avoiding tax‐related penalties under the Internal Revenue Code or applicable state or local tax law provisions or (ii) promoting, marketing 
or recommending to another party any tax‐related matters addressed herein. 

Material discussed in this publication is meant to provide general information and should not be acted on without professional advice tailored to your individual needs.

n. 1. BDO’s program designed to help financial executives and 
those charged with governance (e.g., audit committees and board 
members) keep up to date on the latest corporate governance 
and financial reporting developments. adj. 2. Accented service 
received year-round from BDO to keep you in the know.
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uPreface

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“the Act”) of 2002, Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) regulations, stock exchange rules, 
along with escalating media attention on corporate governance 

and financial reporting issues have impacted the marketplace for 
companies, those charged with governance, and specifically for audit 
committees. More recently, globalization of financial reporting, 
financial crises, economic downturn, corporate fraud and a variety 
of other matters have brightened the spotlight on the governing of 
business. More than ever, there is a prevailing belief that effective 
audit committees are essential to the development and maintenance 
of efficient and effective capital markets. To that end, BDO continues 
the tradition of assisting those charged with governance (including 
audit committees, boards of directors and financial executives) via our 
outreach program called Ac’senseSM.

As background, the Act required the SEC to adopt rules to implement a 
number of the Act’s provisions. In connection with its rulemaking, the 
SEC has directed the national securities exchanges and associations 
to prohibit the listing of the securities of an issuer that is not in 
compliance with the standards for audit committees as set forth in the 
Act. The SEC’s rules, together with rules adopted by the exchanges, 
set minimum standards for the independence and credentials of 
audit committee members and require audit committees to be 
directly responsible for the appointment, compensation, retention, 
and oversight of the work of a company’s auditors. In addition to 
conforming to these rules and regulations, audit committees are further 
challenged to meet the high expectations of company shareholders that 
have entrusted them with governance. 

The focus of Ac’senseSM is to provide those charged with governance 
with essential, relevant information through clear and concise 
executive summary-type communications. In this spirit, we have 
updated this practical guide to forming and running an effective 
audit committee, in which we provide answers to certain frequently 
asked questions (FAQs) centering on the WHYs, WHOs, WHATs, 
WHENs and HOWs of audit committees. More specifically, these 
FAQs summarize the common functions and responsibilities of audit 
committees and seek to provide insight and perspective as to how to 
optimize audit committee effectiveness. Our vision has been shaped 
by our own experiences with our clients and interpretations of the 
specific recommendations, guidelines and rules of the SEC; the stock 
exchanges; the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB)1; 
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA); the 
Blue Ribbon Committee on Improving the Effectiveness of Corporate 
Audit Committees, sponsored by the New York Stock Exchange and 
the National Association of Securities Dealers; along with guidance 
issued by the Center for Audit Quality (CAQ) and the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

Throughout this guide, we focus on some of the more challenging 
aspects facing audit committees. To that end, in addition to our 
commentary, we have included links and references to other relevant 
BDO practice aids and tools as well as certain valuable external 
resources. We hope you will find this guide and its links helpful in 
understanding and meeting the many requirements and challenges of 
the ever changing marketplace for those charged with governance and 
more specifically, for audit committees.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, SEC regulations, stock exchange rules, escalating media attention on corporate governance and financial 
reporting issues… a variety of matters have impacted the marketplace for companies and specifically for audit committees…at BDO, 
we have created an outreach program called Ac’senseSM to assist those charged with governance with the increased demands placed on 
them as a result of recent developments and ongoing challenges.

While geared primarily toward audit committees of 
public entities, much of the content included within is 
applicable to those charged with governance of private 
entities as well. Where appropriate, we have provided 
additional guidance/considerations specifically for 
private entities throughout this publication. 
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uThe WHYs

WHY are audit committees so 
important to an organization’s 
overall corporate governance?

The current environment has heightened the need for effective audit 
committees. The financial debacles and alleged fraudulent activities at 
established companies along with phenomena such as the credit crunch 
and continuing economic turbulence are well known to the public. 
Young, growing companies also face a unique set of challenges triggered 
by their less-developed internal control structures. As a result, both 
established companies as well as emerging companies have an even 
greater need for independent oversight.

A study released in 2010 by COSO concluded that fraud is NOT limited 
to companies of a certain size and found that companies charged with 
fraudulent reporting by the SEC included startups with no assets or 
revenues, as well as much larger companies.2 

Today’s marketplace has shifted the focal point for governing bodies 
from simply overseeing company operations to assessing company 
strategies and risk management processes, understanding complexity 
and being prepared to handle crises. We will explore all of this in more 
detail in the following pages.

The SEC defines an audit committee as “a committee (or equivalent 
body) established by and among the board of directors of an issuer 
for the purpose of overseeing the accounting and financial reporting 

processes of the issuer and audits of the financial statements of the 
issuer...” To be listed, the major stock exchanges (NYSE, NYSE AMEX, 
and NASDAQ) all require that companies maintain independent audit 
committees.

Under the COSO internal control framework, “the control 
environment sets the tone for an organization. It is the foundation 
for all other components of internal control, providing discipline and 
structure.”3 A key element of the control environment is the “tone 
at the top,” the message from the highest levels of the organization 
regarding the ethical and compliance behaviors of management and 
employees. We believe that for an audit committee to truly exercise 
proper oversight, it must influence the tone at the top. Key steps that 
the audit committee should take in this direction include the following:

•	�E nsure management clearly communicates to all employees that 
financial misreporting is absolutely unacceptable

• 	�Insist on receiving all news, especially bad news, promptly and fully
•	A sk tough questions
• 	Be skeptical
•	 React quickly to issues and take preventive measures for the future

uBDO Insight

A strong audit committee is important for all companies. 
Growing companies, as well as established companies benefit 
from the experience, oversight and direction that an audit 
committee may provide.
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WHY should a private company 
consider forming an audit committee?

Many large, complex private companies have formed audit committees 
simply because investors view such committees as an integral and 
essential part of corporate governance to manage the business and 
often, to deal specifically with the complex accounting rules that exist 
under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), and the 
unprecedented changes that are expected in the future as it relates 
to both U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). Other organizations, including not-for-profit entities, have 
done so as a result of specific industry regulations or in preparation for 
going public at some point in the future. The AICPA’s Audit Committee 
Toolkit for Private Companies4 lists numerous reasons as to why a 
private company should consider forming an audit committee, including 
providing better: financial results and access to capital; decision-
making in terms of accuracy and quality of financial reporting; ability 
to build stronger relationships with stakeholders; as well as facilitating 
transitions in leadership and in entering public capital markets.

First, let’s consider the application of U.S. GAAP. While the debate over 
the appropriateness of one set of financial accounting standards used 
by companies of all sizes and complexities has been going on for years, 
there is growing sentiment within the U.S. in support of a separate, 
standalone set of accounting standards for U.S. private companies. 
To that end, in December 2009, a Blue Ribbon Panel charged with 
making recommendations on the future of standard setting for private 
companies was launched by the AICPA and the Financial Accounting 
Foundation (“FAF” – the parent organization of the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (“FASB”)). A report from the Blue Ribbon Panel is 
anticipated within the next year and BDO is following the activity of 
the panel quite closely. With this potential shift in the accounting and 
disclosure model, emphasis on the oversight of application of new 
standards as well as on the changes to be made related to procedures 
and controls will be required by those charged with governance to 
ensure the reliability and objectivity of financial reporting.

Second, while the formation of the Blue Ribbon panel is intended to 
address U.S. GAAP issues, let’s consider the inroads IFRS are beginning 
to make on private companies. In 2008, the AICPA recognized the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) as an official 
standard-setter and thus, U.S. auditors are now permitted to issue 
opinions on private company financial statements filed using IFRS, as 
recognized by the IASB. More recently, in July 2009, the IASB published 
a 230-page condensed version of IFRS for small and medium-sized 
entities: “IFRS for SMEs.” The IASB defines SMEs as businesses that 
publish general-purpose financial statements for external users and do 
not have public accountability. IFRS for SMEs was developed for private 
companies and their financial statement users as a simplification to 
full IFRS. You may refer to BDO’s IFRS Resource Center for further 
information as well as a link to BDO’s Ac’sense IFRS vs. IFRS for SMEs 
archived webcast at: http://www.bdo.com/ifrs/.

Given this increased activity aimed at “simplification” of accounting 
standards for private companies, encompassing both U.S. GAAP and 
international standards, it is easy to understand how having a focused 

The Blue Ribbon Panel on Standard Setting for Private 
Companies is composed of a cross section of financial 
reporting constituencies: lenders, investors, owners, 
preparers, auditors and regulators.

The Panel has been charged with a comprehensive review of 
the current system of standard setting for private companies 
in the U.S., with a focus on the following matters:

•	� Who are the actual users of private company financial 
statements and how do they use GAAP financial statements 
in their decision making? 

•	� What is the key, decision-useful information that the 
various users need from GAAP financial statements? 

•	� Are current GAAP financial statements meeting those 
needs? Why or why not? 

•	� Are the benefits of GAAP financial statements outweighing 
the costs of preparing those statements for private 
companies? 

•	� How does standard setting for private companies in the U.S. 
compare to standard setting in other countries, both those 
that have adopted IFRS for Small and Medium-Size Entities 
(see below) and those that have not? 

•	� To the extent that current GAAP is not meeting user 
needs in a cost-beneficial manner, what are some possible 
alternatives for private company standards (e.g., separate, 
stand-alone standards; base-level standards for all 
entities with additional disclosure requirements for public 
companies) and what are the implications for standard-
setter structure and/or processes? 

In addressing these matters at a strategic level, the Panel 
will consider relevant studies and other reports on private 
company financial reporting that have been done over the 
years by the AICPA, the FAF, and others. Their primary focus is 
selecting a model for private company financial reporting that 
is relevant to the users of private company financial reports. 
The Panel has scheduled five general public forums through 
December 2010. Refer to: http://www.fasb.org/home.
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oversight function by means of an audit committee in place to ensure 
that an entity’s decision-makers are remaining abreast of developments 
in financial reporting may be critical.

Third, let’s consider the optimism in the initial public offering (“IPO”) 
and mergers and acquisitions (“M&A”) markets. According to a survey 
of 100 executives at leading investment banks performed by BDO’s 
Capital Markets Practice earlier this year, The 2010 BDO IPO Outlook 
Survey, approximately 68% believed that IPO activity would increase 
in 2010 as compared to 2009. Support for this is evident in the number 
of U.S. IPOs actually completed through November 15, 2010: 124 
priced IPOs as compared to 63 in total for 2009.5 While the outlook 
for 2011 of course remains dependent upon the strengthening of the 
global economy, according to investment bank Renaissance Capital, 
the Q3 2010 IPO pipeline had 170 companies poised to go public with 
a shift in demographics from the finance and energy sectors to a higher 
number of filings from venture capital-backed firms in the technology 
and healthcare sectors.6 Companies considering an initial public 
offering will need to weigh significant factors. One of those factors 
is that a newly public company will be required to meet significant 
corporate governance requirements. Establishing a governance team 
early on in the IPO process will aid in easing the transition into the 
public eye. For further insights into taking a company public, please 
refer to the BDO Guide to Going Public available on our IPO Readiness 
Center website at: http://www.bdo.com/ipo/. A recent survey of 
150 executives of firms ranging from small regional businesses to $200 
billion conglomerates, conducted by Thomson Reuters and Freeman 
Consulting Services7, appears to indicate a “positive outlook” with a 
forecast of global M&A volume to grow by a third and anticipated 
equity capital market activity to increase over 20% during 2011.

Finally, it’s all in the eye of the beholder. Consider perceptions of 
corporate governance and the potential effects on transactions and 
proceedings involving a company (e.g., significant customer/vendor 
relations, mergers, dispositions, acquisitions, raising capital, bankruptcy, 
litigation, etc.). Simply, companies that are perceived to have solid 
governance structures and practices are looked upon more favorably 
than those that do not.

 “Though still well below 2007 ‘pre-crisis’ levels, in predicting an increase of 25% for U.S. IPOs in 2010, the 
BDO IPO Outlook survey revealed broad-based optimism among the capital markets community that offering 
activity…will build on momentum established in the past year.”
– Christopher Tower, Partner, BDO USA, LLP

uBDO Insight

While much attention is paid to public companies, private 
companies can also benefit from the assistance, guidance 
and oversight an audit committee can provide. Thus, absent 
specific requirements to maintain an audit committee, we 
encourage management, owners and boards to weigh the 
benefits and costs of establishing audit committees within 
their organizations. In doing so, we recommend a thorough 
reading of this and other related guidance to understand what 
the decision to form and run an effective audit committee 
really means to the company. A company’s future liquidity 
plans may be a key factor in this decision-making process. 
A company with an established governance body becomes 
even more attractive to risk-adverse lenders, investors and 
potential buyers. Furthermore, experience has shown us that 
the establishment of an audit committee prior to going public 
will allow an Initial Public Offering (IPO) candidate to avoid 
the mad scrambling to fill the audit committee positions 
at the “11th hour” and provide potential shareholders with 
additional confidence derived from the emphasis placed on a 
strong corporate governance structure by the organization.

http://www.bdo.com/download/1254
http://www.bdo.com/ipo/
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uThe WHOs
Before we get into the “WHOs” of the audit committee in 
particular, we should ensure that we recognize the key 
participants within the marketplace, as they all bring 
unique experiences and perspectives to the governance 
of financial reporting.

Let’s begin with participants within the companies themselves, which 
include the oversight boards and directors; financial and operational 
management; and internal auditors. Independent external auditors 
play a pivotal role in providing assurance as to the reliability of the 
financial statements prepared by management. Consultants and third 
party advisors, such as legal counsel, also play key roles in assisting the 
companies to navigate the rules and regulations of the marketplace, 
which include key operational and financial reporting aspects.

External to the company are the regulatory agencies (the SEC, PCAOB 
and governmental organizations); standard-setters (FASB, AICPA, IASB, 
etc.); and financial analysts, all of whom are actively concerned with the 
structuring and protection of fair and consistent reporting within the 
marketplace for all companies.

Shareholders, investors and suppliers, along with the media, are also 
viewed as key participants as they continue to gain more and more 
power in shaping how business is transacted and communicating how 
companies should be governed.

The interaction of all of these participants is what makes business so 
intriguing and as of late, decidedly more challenging. The ever changing 
conduct and governance of business demands that these various 
participants and stakeholders work together to promote the reliability 
of the financial reporting process. 

At the center of this ever changing marketplace is the audit 
committee, in its oversight role, who is charged with fostering the 
appropriate tone at the top and establishing and maintaining strong 
relationships with the other key participants.
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Let’s now explore this responsibility more closely…

WHO make the best audit committee 
members?

The best audit committees are those who set the appropriate tone 
at the top where the focus is on ensuring the organization acts in 
accordance with the best interests of its investors and the public at 
large. Fundamentally, this can only occur in environments where 
in-depth knowledge, integrity and an unbiased perspective pervade 
and are brought to bear at the board and audit committee, senior 
management and leadership levels. These members not only bring 
a wealth of industry, general business and financial knowledge and 
experience to the table, but also can very effectively apply such 
knowledge and experience to the organization’s specific circumstances. 
This entails knowing the organization and its risks, which is fostered 
through regular involvement and communications with management 
and the internal and external auditors. The best audit committee 
members demonstrate a high level of involvement and engage in 
frequent communications, ensuring that a two-way constructive 
dialogue occurs at all times whereby appropriate information- and 
knowledge-sharing takes place between all parties involved.

Furthermore, it is imperative that the expectations of the audit 
committee as a governing body are understood and actions are 
appropriately carried out. For example, the best audit committees will 
take an active role in identifying financial statement areas where, given 
the particular circumstances, the committee may require incremental 
procedures to be performed by the internal or external auditors. 
The audit committee is also highly involved in the organization’s 
financial reports, ensuring that presentation and disclosure matters 
of significance are handled fairly and transparently. Such an audit 
committee realizes its role in initiating communications, creating 
meeting agendas and following up on the results of actions taken. We 
will discuss these and other best practices in more detail throughout 
this publication.

There are numerous requirements specified by the various rulemaking 
bodies (SEC, stock exchanges, etc.) with respect to audit committee 
membership. These requirements largely focus on independence and 
credentials. All the major U.S. exchanges require that audit committees 
be comprised of a minimum of three independent, financially literate 
members.8 In addition, each of the exchanges requires that at least one 
member possess additional financial expertise.

Let’s look at these requirements more closely…

Independence

The major stock exchanges require that audit committee members be 
independent of the companies they serve. Under Section 301 of the Act, 
an independent director is defined as one:

a.		 Who does not accept any compensation from the company (other 
than as a director), and

b.		 Is not an “affiliated person” of the company or any subsidiary.

A more detailed discussion of the independence requirements, 
including certain exceptions, can be found in BDO’s Financial Reporting 
Letter “SEC Completes Mandated Sarbanes-Oxley Act Rulemaking” 
at: http://www.bdo.com./publications/assurance/finrptnl/
FRL-SECRules7-03-4.pdf. In addition, the Report of the NACD Blue 
Ribbon Commission on The Audit Committee9 contains a table within its 
appendices that lays out the various requirements of the Act along with 
those of the NYSE and NASDAQ as well as the 2010 Dodd-Frank Wall 
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. 

“True” Independence vs. “Legal” Independence

While the SEC and the exchanges offer rule-based definitions of 
independence, audit committees are best served by members that 
truly maintain an attitude of independence. Such members should 
be without bias with respect to the company. More specifically, the 
audit committee must be able to resist management’s attempts at 
compromising financial reporting.

The Audit Committee’s Relationships

Board of 
Directors

Shareholders  
and the  
Investor  

Community

Regulatory 
AgenciesCEO/CFO

External 
and Internal 

Auditors

Audit  
Committee

“[Audit Committees’] views are critical because of the 
essential role they play in overseeing the production of 
corporate financial statements and the work of public 
company auditors.” 
– Cindy Fornelli, Executive Director of the Center for Audit Quality (CAQ)

http://www.bdo.com./publications/assurance/finrptnl/FRL-SECRules7-03-4.pdf
http://www.bdo.com./publications/assurance/finrptnl/FRL-SECRules7-03-4.pdf
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uBDO Insight

We believe that the guidance on independence for auditors 
contained in the PCAOB’s Auditing Standards (AU) Section 
220 Independence can be applied to audit committee 
members as well. To paraphrase, independence does not 
imply an attitude of a prosecutor but rather a judicial 
impartiality that recognizes an obligation for fairness not only 
to management but also to shareholders, creditors, and those 
who may otherwise rely on the financial statements. 

Refer to the WHAT section for specific audit committee responsibilities 
with respect to continued independence. 

WHO can serve as a financial expert 
on the audit committee?

Listing standards require the following with regard to general financial 
literacy:

•	�NY SE – Audit committee members must be financially literate, as 
determined by the board of directors, or must become financially 
literate within a reasonable period of time following their 
appointment.

•	�NA SDAQ – Audit committee members must be able to read and 
understand financial statements at the time of appointment.

•	�NY SE AMEX – Audit committee members must be able to read and 
understand fundamental financial statements, including a company’s 
balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement or will 
be able to do so within a reasonable period of time following their 
appointment.

Furthermore, the Act requires all companies whose securities trade 
in the U.S. to disclose in its annual reports whether or not the audit 
committee includes at least one member who is an “audit committee 
financial expert” and, if not, the reasons.

The SEC defines an audit committee financial expert as a person who 
has all of the following attributes:

•	�A n understanding of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
and financial statements (with respect to foreign private issuers, the 
understanding must be of the GAAP used by the foreign private issuer 
in preparing its primary financial statements); 

•	�T he ability to assess the general application of such principles in 
connection with the accounting for estimates, accruals, and reserves;

•	�E xperience preparing, auditing, analyzing, or evaluating financial 
statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of 
accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and 
complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised 
by the registrant’s financial statements, or experience actively 
supervising one or more persons engaged in such activities;

•	�A n understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial 
reporting; and

•	�A n understanding of the audit committee function.

Further, the SEC requires that a person must have acquired these 
attributes through any one or more of the following:

•	�E ducation and experience as a principal financial officer, principal 
accounting officer, controller, public accountant, or auditor, or 
experience in one or more positions that involve the performance of 
similar functions;

•	�E xperience actively supervising a principal financial officer, principal 
accounting officer, controller, public accountant, auditor, or person 
performing similar functions;

•	�E xperience overseeing or assessing the performance of companies 
or public accountants with respect to the preparation, auditing, or 
evaluation of financial statements; or

•	O ther relevant experience.

The responsibility to determine whether a person qualifies to be treated 
as an audit committee financial expert, based on the rules discussed 
previously, rests with the board of directors.

To be listed on an exchange, each exchange has requirements 
for financial expertise that differ slightly from those of the 
SEC. They are summarized as:

•	� NYSE: At least one member of the audit committee 
must have “accounting or related financial management 
expertise” in the judgment of the board.

•	� NYSE AMEX: At least one member of the audit committee 
must have had past employment expertise in finance 
or accounting, requisite professional certification in 
accounting, or any other comparable experience or 
background which results in the individual’s financial 
sophistication, including being or having been a chief 
executive officer, chief financial officer, or other senior 
officer with financial oversight responsibilities. (This 
requirement does not apply to “smaller reporting 
companies.”)

•	� NASDAQ: At least one member of the audit committee 
must have had past employment in accounting or other 
comparable experience or background such as being 
or having been a chief executive officer, chief financial 
officer, or other senior official with financial oversight 
responsibilities, that results in the individual’s financial 
sophistication.

Despite the differences noted here, all of the exchanges 
specify that a director who meets the SEC’s definition of an 
audit committee financial expert possesses the necessary 
acumen to meet their expertise requirements.
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The AICPA’s Audit Committee Toolkit contains the following decision tree that may assist 
audit committees i n evaluating a candidate for consideration as their financial expert:

Has the person completed 
a program of learning in 
accounting or auditing?

Does the person have 
experience as a principal 
financial officer, principal 

accounting officer, controller, 
public accountant or auditor?

Does the person have 
experience in one or more 
positions that involve the 

performance of similar 
functions?

Does the person have 
experience actively supervising 
a person(s) performing one or 

more of these functions?

Does the person have other 
relevant experience?

The candidate does not meet the 
requirements to be designated audit 

committee financial expert.

Does the person have 
experience overseeing or 

assessing the performance 
of companies or public 

accountants with respect to 
the preparation, auditing, 
or evaluation of financial 

statements?

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

In connection with the education or 
experience, does the person have each of 

the following attributes:

• an understanding of generally accepted 
accounting principles

(GAAP) and financial statements;

AND

• the ability to assess the general 
application of such principles in 

connection with the accounting for 
estimates, accruals and reserves;

AND 

• experience preparing, auditing, 
analyzing or evaluating financial 

statements that present a breadth 
and level of complexity of accounting 

issues that can reasonably be expected 
to be raised by the company’s financial 

statements, or experience actively 
supervising one or more persons engaged 

in such activities;

AND

• an understanding of internal controls 
and procedures for financial reporting;

AND

• an understanding of audit committee 
functions?

No

Yes
The candidate meets the 

statutory requirements to 
be identified as the audit 

committee financial expert.

Source: The AICPA Audit Committee 
Toolkit. Copyright © 2004 by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, 
Inc., New York, New York accessible at: 
http://www.aicpa.org/audcommctr

uBDO Commentary: If, upon reaching the bottom of the left column of the flow chart, all of the answers to the preceding questions are “NO,” 
then the candidate would not meet the requirements to be designated as an audit committee financial expert. “Statutory requirements” within the 
pentagon on the right of the flowchart indicates statutory requirements of the SEC.
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Why do audit committees need to 
include a financial expert?

•	�E stablished rules equate to elevated responsibility and risk for audit 
committees.

	 – �	�The audit committee is required to formally recommend to the 
board that the audited financial statements be included in the Form 
10-K. In addition, the external auditors are required to discuss with 
the audit committee the auditors’ judgment about the quality, 
not just the acceptability, of the company’s accounting principles. 
Moreover, auditors are required to communicate significant issues 
identified to the audit committee in conjunction with 10-Q filings. 
The audit committee must be active in asking knowledgeable and 
probing questions about these matters and not merely listen to 
presentations by the auditors and management.

•	� Business transactions are increasingly complex, making it difficult to 
understand the proper accounting treatment or related economic 
risks.

	 –	�Generally, an individual that has past experience in finance and 
accounting along with the requisite industry knowledge can be a 
crucial and invaluable addition to the audit committee.

	 –	�The body of accounting rules and complexity of such rules is 
increasing dramatically, with pending convergence to one set of 
world-wide acceptable accounting standards (i.e., IFRS), coupled 
with the SEC’s continued efforts to detect signs of earnings 
management.* 

* Note: For upcoming and archived Ac’senseSM complimentary 
webinars focusing on financial accounting and reporting 
developments, including topics on IFRS, please refer to: http://www.
bdo.com./acsense/.

We are all acutely aware of the accounting and disclosure complexities 
faced by companies today. This issue is only going to become 
increasingly more challenging as the FASB and IASB continue to set 
aggressive agendas for release of new standards. They recently affirmed 
June 2011 as the target date for completing several major projects 

toward international convergence. The number of expected major 
changes is unprecedented and causes great concern that such changes 
will consume significant amounts of management time and will carry 
a high risk of mistakes. Companies will be expected to disclose the 
impact of these changes and audit committees will need to “get up to 
speed” quickly on changing accounting rules that cover a broad range of 
matters from revenue recognition to accounting for leases. For IASB and 
FASB project updates, refer to http://www.ifrs.org/Home.htm and 
http://www.fasb.org/home, respectively. 

Coupled with the release of complex technical accounting and 
reporting guidance is the expectation of more transparency in 
disclosure by regulators and investors. For example, the SEC’s Division 
of Corporation Finance has utilized the practice over the past several 
years of issuing what are being termed as “Dear CFO” letters. These 
are sample illustrative letters sent to public companies identifying 
certain disclosures that the companies “may wish” to consider in 
preparing their Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) with 
respect to such topics as the application of fair value, disclosure of 
the provisions and allowances for loan losses, potential risks and 
costs associated with mortgage and foreclosure-related activities or 
exposures, investments in certain investment vehicles (e.g., repurchase 
agreements and other transfers of financial assets) as well as certain 
off-balance sheet investments (e.g., non-consolidated conduits and 
collateralized debt obligations). In September 2010, the SEC issued 
interpretive guidance with respect to the presentation of liquidity and 
capital resources within MD&A, specifically focused on liquidity trends 
and uncertainties.10 Additionally, the SEC Staff has made public specific 
observations with respect to its review of the application by 350 public 
companies of the enhanced executive compensation disclosures within 
the required Compensation Discussion and Analysis (CD&A). The 
Staff has indicated that it expects companies to specifically disclose 
how and why a company arrives at specific executive compensation 
decisions and policies and do so in a manner of presentation that is 
easy to understand. Refer to http://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/
cfdisclosure.shtml.

A recent survey was performed by the CAQ11 to ascertain the shared 
views of audit committee members from small-, medium- and large-
cap companies as to the quality of the audit process since the passage 
of the Act. Of the 253 participants, approximately 24% were designated 

 “Akin to assembling a Board, whose members have diverse backgrounds, building an audit committee 
with differing and broad financial expertise and experiences may serve to enhance the analysis, review and 
ultimately, the controls over the organization’s financial reporting.” 
– Peter Tombros, Chairman of the Board of Directors of NPS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 

http://www.bdo.com./acsense/
http://www.bdo.com./acsense/
http://www.ifrs.org/Home.htm
http://www.fasb.org/home
http://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/cfdisclosure.shtml
http://www.sec.gov/divisions/corpfin/cfdisclosure.shtml
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financial experts. Several of the questions in the survey dealt with 
how the role of audit committee members has changed. In particular, 
over 80% indicated that the level of specialized knowledge required 
to perform their job has increased (either somewhat or significantly). 
Additionally, approximately 66% indicated that the designation of a 
financial expert on audit committees had a (either somewhat or very) 
positive impact on the overall quality of audits of public companies.12 

uBDO Insight

We believe boards need to assess the specific and unique 
circumstances and experiences of the companies they serve 
in selecting candidates for service on committees of the 
board. The selection of audit committee members, and 
particularly the decision regarding whether to include more 
than one financial expert, must take into account various 
factors, including weighing the risks and complexities of the 
financial reporting of the company as well as the current 
composition of the audit committee, along with careful 
consideration of its strengths and perceived weaknesses. The 
board needs to consider the broad experiences – financial, 
industry, leadership, etc. – that potential candidates bring 
to the table and financial expertise is one of many attributes 
that need to be weighed. Furthermore, in considering 
whether an audit committee should have an “accountant” 
in the mix is dependent on the types of experiences that all 
members, as a group, bring to the table. However, experience 
in accounting matters and the propensity to remain current in 
the increasingly complex and mounting accounting technical 
literature are attributes that should be weighed heavily in the 
candidate selection process. 

Liability of Financial Experts

A safe harbor is included within SEC Regulation S-K making it clear that 
an audit committee financial expert is not deemed an “expert” under 
Section 11 of the Securities Act or for any other purpose. In addition, an 
audit committee financial expert has no greater obligations or liability 
than the members of the audit committee and board of directors 
who are not designated as financial experts, and the presence of an 
audit committee financial expert does not reduce the other members’ 
obligations or liability. However, we advise audit committee members 
to seek advice from legal counsel on questions of legal liability.

WHO should fill the role of the audit 
committee chair?

The role of the audit committee chair is without question a demanding 
one. This role requires a strong, independent and competent 
communicator who is willing to ask tough questions of management 
and others in order to truly understand and ensure that the audit 
committee is focused on risk management and financial oversight 
of the company and that the company’s strategic direction is in line 
with reality. The audit committee chair should be financially literate. 

This is not to say that the audit committee chair needs to be the 
financial expert of the committee, but more often than not this may 
be the case. In addition to being financially literate, a chair should 
be an experienced leader who can be forward-thinking and have 
the time to set agendas and conduct both regularly scheduled and 
special meetings, as necessary, that effectively involve all of the key 
participants (management, auditors, and the board) and get to the 
heart of corporate governance and financial reporting matters.

uBDO Insight

A best practice that we continue to see is the audit committee 
chair setting aside the time to meet individually with the 
external auditors, internal auditors and management, as 
necessary, prior to audit committee meetings to not only 
better understand matters to be discussed with the audit 
committee but to assist the chair in prioritizing the topics to 
be discussed and the time allotted to them.

WHO else is needed to serve on the 
audit committee?

To obtain a balanced perspective, in addition to the financial expert, we 
recommend two to five additional members with diverse backgrounds 
and experience. Their knowledge should be consistent with the 
applicable stock exchanges’ definition of “financially literate.” This 
generally means that the committee member must be able to read 
and understand fundamental financial statements sufficiently to 
recognize when the numbers along with associated disclosures do 
not make business sense. This ability, coupled with diligence and an 
inquisitive attitude, will enable members to ask insightful questions and 
thoughtfully assess the responses.

There are various places to look for qualified audit committee 
members. Referral sources to consider include executive search firms 
and professional organizations, such as the AICPA’s Audit Committee 
Matching System accessible via http://www.aicpa.org/Volunteer/
AuditCommitteeMatchingCenter/Pages/index.aspx and the 
National Association of Corporate Directors (NACD) Directors 
Registry.13

uBDO Insight

In addition to financial expertise, serious consideration should 
be given to one’s expertise within a certain industry. For 
example, software companies must navigate specialized rules 
relative to revenue recognition and financial institutions must 
address complex accounting standards when accounting for 
financial instruments. When evaluating if members have the 
required expertise, we believe that audit committees should 
assess if its candidates have the capacity or background to 
fully grasp the issues relative to a specific industry. 

http://www.aicpa.org/Volunteer/AuditCommitteeMatchingCenter/Pages/index.aspx
http://www.aicpa.org/Volunteer/AuditCommitteeMatchingCenter/Pages/index.aspx
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uThe WHATs

auditors who provide audit services to the issuer (whether the services 
are provided by the principal auditor or another firm).

•	� Procedures for handling complaints – The audit committee must 
establish procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of 
complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, 
or auditing matters, including procedures for the confidential 
anonymous submission by employees of concerns regarding 
questionable accounting or auditing matters.

•	� Authority to engage advisors – The audit committee must have 
the authority to engage independent counsel and other advisors as it 
deems necessary to carry out its duties.

•	� Funding – The issuer must provide appropriate funding for the audit 
committee to compensate the outside auditors and any independent 
counsel and advisors it employs and to fund ordinary administrative 
expenses of the audit committee that are necessary in carrying out its 
duties.

The following discussion is organized around these basic standards and 
is somewhat expanded to encompass the fuller scope of actual audit 
committee responsibilities in keeping with the broader concept of 
oversight.

WHAT should be the mission of an 
effective audit committee?

Quite simply, the audit committee’s mission is oversight. More 
specifically, this oversight should be focused on the following areas:

•	� Financial reporting – Conduct and integrity of financial reporting;

•	� Risk management – Inclusive of internal accounting and disclosure 
controls; and

•	� Audit function – Oversight of and communication with independent 
auditors, both internal and external

WHAT are the basic responsibilities14 of 
an audit committee?

The SEC requires an issuer’s audit committee to meet the following five 
standards for the issuer’s securities to be listed:

•	� Independence – In addition to helping define WHO an audit 
committee member should be, independence is considered a basic 
continuing responsibility of an audit committee member and each 
member of the audit committee must be independent and remain so 
under specified narrow criteria. See prior discussion on independence.

•	� Responsibilities relating to Registered Public Accounting 
Firms – The audit committee must be directly responsible for the 
appointment, compensation, retention, and oversight of the work of 
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WHAT suggested specific activities 
or duties should an audit 
committee undertake to maximize 
its effectiveness and contribution 
to the organization in light of its 
responsibilities?

uBDO Insight

One of the audit committee’s most challenging assignments 
is choosing specific duties to perform. The following 
observations on the extent of the audit committee’s role 
have come from a number of sources, including the Treadway 
Commission, the SEC, the various exchanges, the PCAOB and 
the Blue Ribbon Committee along with our own practical 
experience.

uIndependence
An awareness of the independence rules is essential to maintaining 
audit committee independence. To that end, we recommend 1) that 
audit committees and the companies they serve work with their 
legal counsel to develop a process whereby independence rules are 
communicated on a regular basis, and 2) audit committee members 
annually confirm their independence in writing. Many companies 
regularly circulate a questionnaire to audit committee members that 
asks detailed questions to enable members to assess and confirm their 
independence. Often, an explanation of the independence rules is 
attached to these questionnaires. 

uResponsibilities relating to 
Registered Public Accounting Firms 

Evaluating the capabilities of auditors

Within the ever changing marketplace, the audit committee is now 
considered the public accounting firm’s “client” with the responsibility 
to hire and fire, pre-approve services, review compensation and conduct 
regular communications with the auditors. In deciding on whether to 
retain and, as applicable, recommend shareholder ratification of the 
auditors, the audit committee should consider a number of factors 
that impact the auditors’ capabilities in the context of the company’s 
needs. Refer to the chart on the following page which outlines BDO’s 
recommended considerations to be made by audit committees.

In addition, the AICPA’s Audit Committee Toolkit contains a practice aid 
entitled, “Evaluating the Independent Auditor: Questions to Consider” for 
further reference. The Toolkit is available for purchase and accessible 
from the AICPA’s Audit Committee Effectiveness Center at: http://
www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/
Pages/ACEC.aspx.15

Pre-approval of services by audit committees16

Audit committees are required to pre-approve all audit and permitted 
non-audit services. An auditor will be deemed to lack independence if 
he or she performs services without the required pre-approval. 

The audit committee can either approve a service (1) directly before the 
accountant is engaged, or (2) indirectly via pre-approval policies and 
procedures it establishes. Pre-approval policies and procedures must 
be “detailed as to the particular service,” the audit committee must 
be “informed of each service,” and the policies and procedures must 
“not include delegation of the audit committee’s responsibilities … to 
management.” 

The Act allows for one or more designated audit committee members 
who are independent to pre-approve services and requires the decisions 
of those members to be reported to the full audit committee at each of 
its scheduled meetings. 

“[The requirements of the Act] place the audit committee squarely at the center of the relationship between a 
public company and its auditor. The provisions of the Act that deal with the audit committee’s oversight of the 
audit are predicated on the idea that independent, informed, and proactive audit committees can and should be 
key to protecting the interests of public company investors.” 

 – Excerpted from the September 21, 2010 PCAOB Roundtable “Communications with Audit Committees” briefing paper

http://www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/Pages/ACEC.aspx
http://www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/Pages/ACEC.aspx
http://www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/Pages/ACEC.aspx
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The SEC noted that although the Act permits an audit committee to 
pre-approve a service at any time in advance of the activity, it expects 
that audit committees will establish policies limiting the period in 
advance of the activity for which the approval may be granted. 

The rules do provide a de minimis exception to the pre-approval 
requirement for permitted non-audit services. The pre-approval 
requirement is waived if the services were not recognized at the time 
of the engagement to be non-audit services and, once recognized, 
are promptly brought to the attention of the audit committee and 
approved prior to the completion of the audit. The aggregate amount 
of all services approved in this manner may not constitute more than 
five percent of the total fees paid to the auditor during the fiscal year in 
which the services are provided. 

uBDO Insight

The 5% de minimis exception discussed previously applies 
only to permitted non-audit services. It does not provide 
for approving an audit service after-the-fact, and there is 
no de minimis exception for prohibited non-audit services 
(which are discussed below). In addition, the exception is 
available only if the after-the-fact approval occurs before 
the completion of the year-end audit. An audit is considered 
completed on the date a company files the auditor’s report 
with the SEC. 

Thus, companies and auditors should take extra steps to (1) make 
sure all audit services are pre-approved, (2) prevent the auditor from 
inadvertently providing prohibited non-audit services, and (3) identify 
all non-audit services provided before the company files its financial 
statements with the SEC. 

In that regard, audit committees should note that the rules view the 
concept of audit services broadly (e.g., statutory audits and comfort 
letters are viewed as audit services under these rules). This increases 
the risk that a service inadvertently performed without pre-approval 
could be a service for which after-the-fact approval is not permitted. To 
reduce this risk, audit committees should consider pre-approving audit 
services relatively broadly. For example, an audit committee might 
approve “statutory audits in all countries where they are required,” 
rather than “statutory audits in countries A, B, C, and D.” In addition, 
the exercise of preparing the disclosure of the fees paid to the auditor 
should be completed before a company files its annual report – not 
deferred until the time the proxy statement is prepared. This exercise 
would increase the likelihood that de minimis non-audit services 
inadvertently performed without pre-approval can be approved before 
the company files its financial statements.
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As part of i ts  initial and continuing evaluation of the capabilities of i ts auditors, we 
suggest that audit committees consider the following:

SPECIFIC CONSIDERATION QUESTIONS TO ASK

Technical, industry and public 
company reporting expertise and 
depth, including geographic reach

Does the firm have experienced staff and depth of resources to handle the complexity of 
accounting and reporting matters required in today’s environment and as relates specifically to 
the company’s industry, operations and business?

Does the firm participate in industry-related forums (specifically with regard to financial, 
accounting and reporting matters) that have input into the evolving accounting and reporting 
practices and guidance?

Does the firm have the geographic reach necessary to service the company fully and efficiently?

Independence What are the firm’s policies and procedures for ensuring independence of their partners and 
personnel with respect to the company?

Does the firm, in conjunction with the company’s operating environment, have adequate 
mechanisms in place to ensure that independence violations (e.g., with respect to employment of 
former audit engagement team members, pre-approval of services, etc.) do not occur?

Quality control policies and 
procedures

Does the firm have adequate quality control policies and procedures in place to ensure services 
rendered meet professional and regulatory requirements as well as client expectations?

What incremental policies and procedures, above those required by professional and regulatory 
requirements, does the firm employ to provide added quality in the process of rendering 
professional services?

Engagement team composition What is the ratio of staff to partners, and staff to partners plus senior managers?

How does the audit firm manage continuity on engagements?

What are some of the metrics that the firm uses to monitor performance of its senior engagement 
team members?

Training and technical support What are the firm’s professional credentials (breadth, depth and presence of National office 
providing support internally)?

How does the firm prepare its personnel with respect to meeting professional standards and 
servicing clients?

How does the firm ensure its professional personnel remain up-to-date on evolving technical 
rules?

Frequent and meaningful 
communications and interactions 
with audit committees and 
management

What methods and tools does the firm employ to ensure frequent, meaningful communications 
and interactions with the audit committee and management?

More specifically, how does the firm ensure that all required communications occur between the 
auditors and the audit committee?

What programs does the firm have in place to help audit committees and management keep up-
to-date with respect to evolving issues of significance and relevance?
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The SEC acknowledges four categories of services rendered by the auditor. Fees grouped by these categories must be disclosed in the annual 
reports and annual proxy statements of issuers. 

These categories consist of the following:

Audit services – the aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by the principal accountant for the audit of the registrant’s annual 
financial statements and review of financial statements included in the registrant’s quarterly filing or services that are normally provided by the 
accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

Audit-Related Fees – the aggregate fees billed for assurance and related services by the principal accountant that are reasonably related to the 
performance of the audit or review of the registrant’s financial statements and are not reported under “audit services.”

Tax Fees – the aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by the principal accountant for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax 
planning.

All Other Fees – the aggregate fees billed for products and services provided by the principal accountant, other than the services included in the 
other three categories listed above.

WHAT services are auditors not 
allowed to provide to issuers?

The SEC’s list of prohibited services is based on three basic principles:
•	A n auditor cannot audit his or her own work; 
•	A n auditor cannot perform management functions; and 
•	A n auditor cannot act as an advocate for his or her client. 

uBDO Insight

As noted in the pre-approval requirements discussion 
previously, the rules do not provide a de minimis exception for 
prohibited services. Companies and auditors should evaluate 
and consider strengthening their controls to prevent the 
auditor from inadvertently providing prohibited non-audit 
services. 

For the first five prohibited services listed to the right, the 
rules state that they are prohibited unless it is “reasonable 
to conclude that the results of these services will not be 
subject to audit procedures during an audit of the client’s 
financial statements.” 17 We understand that the SEC 
staff’s position is that a successor auditor’s independence 
would not be impaired if the successor auditor provided 
prohibited non-audit services in the current audit period and 
these services (1) relate solely to the prior period which is 
audited by the predecessor auditor, (2) will not be subject 
to audit procedures by the successor auditor, and (3) are not 
management functions.18 

Prohibited services include:
•	 Bookkeeping 
•	 Financial information systems design and implementation
•	A ppraisal or valuation 
•	A ctuarial 
•	 Internal audit outsourcing
•	 Management functions
•	H uman resources
•	 Broker or dealer, investment advisor, or investment banking
•	 Legal
•	E xpert services unrelated to the audit
•	 Certain tax services

These rules became effective in May 2003. For a more in-depth 
discussion of these services and more recent rulemaking pertaining to 
permitted/prohibited services and BDO’s observations, please refer to 
BDO’s summary document Independence Considerations: Permitted/
Prohibited Services available within our Ac’senseSM website at: http://
www.bdo.com/acsense/. 

With these rules in mind, audit committees are well-served by 
establishing formal yet flexible pre-approval policies with regard to 
audit and non-audit services that are reflective of the nature of the 
company’s operations and business needs. The Report of the NACD Blue 
Ribbon Commission on The Audit Committee contains a sample of audit 
committee pre-approval policies that may be helpful.19

What is considered an audit vs. non-audit service?

http://www.bdo.com/acsense/
http://www.bdo.com/acsense/
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uRequired communications

WHAT are the required and other 
desirable communications that audit 
committees should have with the 
auditors?

An auditor is required to communicate the following matters to the 
audit committee before the company files the auditor’s report with the 
SEC: 

•	 Critical accounting policies and practices used by the company;

•	�A lternative accounting treatments within GAAP related to material 
items that have been discussed with management; and 

•	�O ther material written communications between the accounting 
firm and management (e.g., management representation letters, 
engagement letters, etc.). 

PCOAB Rule 352620 requires auditors of public companies to 
communicate the following:

•	� Both prior to accepting an initial public company engagement and at 
least annually –

	 (1) �describe, in writing, to the audit committee, all relationships 
between the registered public accounting firm or any affiliates 
of the firm and the potential audit client or persons in financial 
reporting oversight roles at the potential audit client that, as of the 
date of the communication, may reasonably be thought to bear on 
independence;

	 (2) �discuss with the audit committee the potential effects of the 
relationships described in subsection (1) on independence; and

	 (3) �document the substance of its discussion with the audit 
committee.

PCAOB Rule 3526 requires that prior to accepting an initial engagement 
pursuant to the standards of the PCAOB and at least annually after 
that, the auditor should also affirm to the audit committee, in writing, 
that, it is independent in compliance with PCAOB Rule 3520, Auditor 
Independence.

In addition, the PCAOB codification of interim standards within its AU 
Section 380 incorporates the guidance contained in AICPA Statement 
on Auditing Standards No. 61 (SAS 61), Communications with Audit 
Committees, and SAS 90, Audit Committee Communications, which, 
combined with PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 5 (AS 5), An Audit of 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That is Integrated with an Audit 
of Financial Statements and Related Independence Rule and Conforming 
Amendments, require auditors to communicate the following items to 
audit committees of public companies21,22: 

•	�T he auditor’s responsibility under generally accepted auditing 
standards (“GAAS”) or PCAOB standards – This essentially covers the 
nature and limitations of an audit.

•	O verview of the planned scope and timing of the audit

•	 Significant findings from the audit – which include:
	 a.	A ccounting policies*
	 b. 	Management judgments and estimates*
	 c. �	Corrected and uncorrected misstatements
	 d. �	�Other information in documents containing audited financial 

statements – This refers to the auditor’s limited responsibility for 
other information containing audited financial statements (e.g., 
MD&A, selected financial data, etc.).

	 e. 	�Disagreements with management – These include accounting 
or auditing matters, whether or not resolved to the auditors’ 
satisfaction. This is a particularly important area because it can 
shed light on the aggressiveness of executives in attempting to 
manage earnings or the true financial picture of the company.

	 f.	� Consultation with other accountants – This involves evaluation of 
the appropriateness of management seeking a second opinion on 
significant accounting or auditing issues.

	 g.	�� Major issues discussed with management prior to retention – This 
requirement is aimed at detecting whether management might be 
prone to “opinion shopping.”

	 h.	� Significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit – This 
area may encompass such issues as delays in providing information 
to the auditors and lack of cooperation.

	 i. �	�T he quality, not just the acceptability, of the entity’s accounting 
principles as applied in its financial reporting.*

•	 Representations requested from management

•	 Illegal acts

•	 Fraud*

•	� Internal control matters – specifically, significant deficiencies and 
material weaknesses*

* Refer to further, more in-depth discussions below.

uBDO Insight

In regard to the planned scope and timing of the audit, 
we feel that communications should occur on a timely 
basis and include discussion of the auditors’ approach to 
risk, materiality and internal control as well as the extent 
of interaction between the external and internal auditor 
to better equip those charged with governance to more 
fully understand the scope of the work to be performed 
and determine whether adjustments to this scope may be 
required, as necessary.

While auditors are required to communicate the above items to 
audit committees in connection with annual audits, they should also 
provide updates on a timely basis for any significant changes noted in 
connection with interim (“quarterly”) reviews or the filing of registration 
statements. 
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As required by AICPA SAS 90 (and codified within PCAOB AU Section 
380), auditors are further required “to participate in open and frank 
discussions with the audit committee about the auditor’s judgments 
of the quality, not just the acceptability, of the company’s accounting 
principles as applied in its financial reporting throughout the audit.” This 
includes “such matters as the consistency of the entity’s accounting 
policies and their application, and the clarity and completeness of the 
entity’s financial statements, which include related disclosures... also 
includes items that have a significant impact on the representational 
faithfulness, verifiability, and neutrality of the accounting information 
included in the financial statements.” 

uBDO Insight

Accounting rules are not always precise. Quite often there 
is great latitude in the judgments that produce financial 
statements. These quality discussions present a great 
opportunity for the audit committee to ask direct questions 
about how different issues are handled by the company and 
should be an integral part of the communications process 
with the auditor.

Refer to the Appendix for a tabular listing of Auditor Required 
Communications with Audit Committees and reference to applicable 
technical guidance.

Status23: At the time of this publication, the PCAOB had re-opened 
the comment period through October 2010 on its proposed standard, 
Communications with Audit Committees, which would supersede 
the PCAOB interim standards AU 380, Communications With Audit 
Committees, and AU 310, Appointment of the Independent Auditor. The 
primary objective of the proposed standard is to assist in providing 
more meaningful and robust dialogue between the auditors and the 
audit committees. The PCAOB’s public roundtable held in September 
2010 was intended to help address the following within the final 
standard: (1) identify which auditor communications constituents 
feel are beneficial to audit committees; (2) determine how required 
communications can be structured to enable the auditor and the audit 
committee to focus on the most significant accounting issues and 
estimates; (3) determine how requirements of the proposed standard 
can improve upon the effective two-way communication between the 
auditor and audit committee; (4) determine how matters should be 
communicated – orally or in writing; (5) whether audit engagement 
letters should include the responsibilities of the audit committee in 
addition to those of the auditor and management; (6) determine how 
to avoid auditor duplication of communications made by management; 
and (7) whether the level of detail of uncorrected misstatements 
provided to the audit committee should be the same as that provided 
to management. 

WHAT should audit committees be 
focused on in consideration of 
reliable and transparent financial 
reporting?

The audit committee must have an unwavering mandate 
for financial statements that transparently and 
meaningfully portray the company’s circumstances.

Identifying and managing risk across an organization is one of the chief 
aspects of sound corporate governance. Risk management is the process 
by which management, subject to oversight by the board and audit 
committee, assesses the nature and scope of risks applicable to the 
company, designs and applies appropriate controls to minimize risks and 
monitors the controls to ensure that they are working effectively.

In order to achieve its goal of risk management and combating financial 
fraud, the audit committee must have an unwavering mandate for 
financial statements that transparently and meaningfully portray the 
company’s circumstances. Some steps in achieving this include:

•	�E nsure adequate review of the annual stockholders’ report and Form 
10-K before release to the public. The audit committee should clearly 
understand the following:*

	 –	�Significant accounting judgments made and estimates included in 
the financial statements

	 –	Accounting treatment of significant or unusual transactions
	 –	Impact of changes in accounting rules
	 –	Required disclosures 

* Note: This may be best achieved through open and frank quality 
discussions with management as well as the auditors, as indicated 
previously.

Critical accounting estimates are under much closer scrutiny. 
Given the current economic environment, all parties are 
paying close attention to estimations of fair value and 
impairment; reserves for excess inventory/obsolescence; 
allowances for doubtful accounts; liabilities for employee 
benefit plans; liquidity; as well as other sensitive areas. 
Audit committees need to focus their attention on how 
management is applying judgment within accounting 
standards and specifically, on the assumptions used that 
underlie these critical accounting estimates. Recent practice 
by the SEC has been to issue “Dear CFO” illustrative letters 
asking certain public companies for information on the 
accounting for such things as complex financial transactions, 
fair value assessments, loan loss reserves, etc. to provide 
insight into how assumptions are being made. The intent of 
these letters was to assist public companies to better comply 
with disclosure requirements within MD&A and has resulted 
in broad adoption by companies and their auditors as “best 
practices.”
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•	�E valuate the appropriateness of management seeking a second 
opinion on significant accounting or auditing issues.

•	� Look for “red flags” which may signal improper earnings management 
or, worse, fraudulent financial reporting, misappropriation of funds 
or illegal acts. In that regard, question management and the auditors 
about such matters as unusual fluctuations in revenue and expenses, 
inexplicable reserves, changes in accounting principles or business 
terms, significant new sources of revenue, and widening disparities 
between cash and accrual earnings.

•	� Review audit adjustments made and those waived because of 
immateriality. The SEC is concerned when companies use overly 
narrow concepts of materiality to avoid making adjustments to 
the financial statements. They are particularly concerned when 
adjustments are made (or not made) to help a company meet or 
exceed analysts’ consensus earnings estimates. The SEC has made it 
clear that using purely quantitative materiality criteria (e.g., “5% to 
10% of net income”) is not enough. Quantitative criteria may be a 
good first step; however, registrants should also consider qualitative 
factors, such as adjustments made or not made to satisfy analysts’ 
estimates, turning a loss into a profit, the effect on earnings trends, 
and the effect on the results of individually reported segments of the 
business.

eXtensible Business Reporting Language or XBRL, allows for the electronic communication of business and financial data (a.k.a., interactive 
data) on an international basis. XBRL allows for individual disclosure items within business reports to be assigned unique electronically 
readable tags (similar to a barcode). These tags are mapped to taxonomies, or standard definitions, developed by market constituents and 
are publicly available at http://xbrl.us/TAXONOMIES/Pages/default.aspx. This tagging then allows for data to be more easily extracted, 
searched and analyzed for comparisons/benchmarks with competitors, across industry lines and within markets or indices. 

In 2009, the SEC issued Release 33-9002 adopting final rules requiring filers to provide financial statements in XBRL format as exhibits – 
this includes a company’s balance sheet; income statement; statements of comprehensive income, cash flows and owners’ equity; footnote 
disclosures and financial statement schedules.* The rules are being phased in as of the first quarterly report on Form 10-Q or annual 
reporting on Form 20-F or Form 40-F that contains financial statements for fiscal periods ending on or after June 15, 2009 as follows:

Year 1: Large, accelerated domestic and foreign filers that use U.S. GAAP and have a worldwide public float above $5 billion (determined 
as of the end of their 2nd fiscal quarter of the most recent fiscal year).

Year 2: All other large accelerated filers using U.S. GAAP with a public float above $700 million (determined as of the end of their 2nd 
fiscal quarter of the most recent fiscal year).

Year 3: All other filers, including smaller reporting companies and all foreign private issuers that use IFRS.

*Note: The SEC’s final rule does not require auditor assurance on XBRL exhibits. Nor does it require that filers provide interactive data for 
MD&A, executive compensation or other financial, statistical or narrative disclosure.

Audit committees should be focused on the following in discussions with regard to XBRL:
•	 Is the company adequately prepared for XBRL reporting?
•	 What are the costs, benefits and potential risks in complying with XBRL reporting?
•	�H ow can the audit committee use available XBRL information provided by the company and its peers to enhance its business acumen and 

better its understanding of risks faced by the company?

For further information/education on XBRL, visit http://xbrl.sec.gov/.

Spotlight: XBRL

•	� Review the quarterly SEC filings. The audit committee should 
communicate with the external auditors prior to the filings to 
determine if any matters were identified about which the committee 
should be aware (e.g., a sensitive accounting estimate or a change 
in a significant accounting policy affecting the interim financial 
information).

•	�E nsure that the financial reports clearly reflect true company 
performance. In doing so, the committee should be familiar with 
critical performance indicators such as industry trends and ratios.

http://xbrl.us/TAXONOMIES/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2009/33-9002.pdf
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WHAT specific steps might the audit 
committee undertake in assessing 
the tone at the top and ensuring 
the ethical behavior within an 
organization? 

We will continue to stress the importance of understanding an 
organization’s tone at the top because it provides the basis for ethical 
behavior within an organization. Under Section 406 of the Act, a 
company is required to disclose whether or not it has adopted a code of 
ethics for senior financial officers. A “code of ethics” encompasses such 
standards as are reasonably necessary to promote:

1.		�H onest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual 
or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional 
relationships;

2. 	� Full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in the 
periodic reports required to be filed by the issuer; and

3. 	� Compliance with applicable governmental rules and regulations.24

Most audit committees believe that they can assess the tone at the 
top from their periodic meetings with management. However, best 
practices continue to develop which, in addition to these periodic 
meetings, may include more formal assessments, such as conducting 
confidential employee surveys, focus groups, one-on-one discussions 
with second and third levels of management, as well as holding 
separate discussions with internal and external auditors. 

For further insight, refer to BDO’s Ac’sense Ethics and the Corporate 
Board archived webinar that explores the challenges of promoting 
ethics and practicing corporate oversight and governance in the current 
economic climate available at: http://www.bdo.com./acsense/
events/EthicsCorporateBoard-Oct09.aspx.

WHAT can audit committees do to 
better understand the company’s 
risks, including fraud risks, and the 
adequacy of controls in place to 
mitigate those risks?

The global financial crisis and economic turbulence continues to expose 
companies that have poor risk assessment and management practices 
and should serve as a warning to all companies. The seeds of financial 
fraud are sown in the combination of business and financial risks 
facing a company and the inability of existing internal controls to cope 
with them. The most prevalent means for committing fraud include 
an override of internal controls by management, especially senior 
management. 

In order for the audit committee to monitor risks effectively, it must 
first understand them. Within its Effective Enterprise Risk Oversight 
guidance (see link below), COSO indicates that monitoring of risk 
cannot be done effectively in an ad hoc fashion but rather, requires an 
approach that looks broadly at the organization (through an enterprise 
framework) that encompasses: a comparison of the company’s 
strategies with its appetite for risk (that is, the level of risk a company 
may be willing to accept in order to increase shareholder value); an 
understanding of the processes employed by management to identify, 
assess and manage risk; and a means for reviewing and appraising 
management’s response to significant risks. Then, by recognizing that 
a strong internal control system is the key to risk management, it 
can create the right tone at the top to foster the growth of suitable 
controls. Some considerations:

•	� Review risk assessments developed by management and the auditors. 
Risk comes in many forms, including economic, legal, financial, 
environmental, market, technological and competitive. The audit 
committee cannot be expected to be responsible for continuous 
monitoring of all business and financial risks, but rather should rely 
on the special skills and research of other parties to provide input. 
The audit committee should ask management and the internal and 
external auditors about their assessments of business and financial 
risks in areas relating to the audit committee’s responsibility. This 
evaluation should cover each key business segment and the general 

“Audit committees need to develop strong 
company ethics programs that communicate 
expected behavior, candor with management and 
immediate attention to issues.” 
– Jack Weisbaum, CEO, BDO USA, LLP.

http://www.bdo.com./acsense/events/EthicsCorporateBoard-Oct09.aspx
http://www.bdo.com./acsense/events/EthicsCorporateBoard-Oct09.aspx


Effective Audit Committees in the Ever Changing Marketplace 20

functions that have financial reporting implications. The audit 
committee should perform these inquiries on a regular basis and 
receive updates whenever there is a significant change in risk.

•	� Receive internal auditors’ reports directly with no management 
filtering. Direct interaction with the internal auditors can give the 
committee a sense of the effectiveness of the company’s internal 
control and its compliance with laws, regulations and company 
policies.

•	� Review internal and external auditors’ recommendations for 
improving controls as well as management’s responses to those 
recommendations. In doing so, the audit committee should focus on 
more significant control weaknesses. Understanding management’s 
actions and attitudes toward improving control procedures enables 
the audit committee to better understand management’s tone at the 
top.

•	�E nsure that the company’s infrastructure can support its current 
and future financial reporting needs. The management information 
systems must be able to provide management with all the 
information it needs to run the business while producing clear, 
accurate and timely external financial reports. For companies that 
grow through acquisition, management also needs to be mindful of 
the need for the acquired companies’ systems to be compatible with 
those of the company.

•	�O btain written representations from management on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal controls and information 
systems.

•	� Work with the full board and other committees of the board, as 
necessary, to ensure that a broad assessment of risk is understood and 
considered.

Some resources to consider include:

COSO’s Effective Enterprise Risk Oversight – The Role of the Board of 
Directors
http://www.coso.org/documents/COSOBoardsERM4pager-
FINALRELEASEVERSION82409_001.pdf

COSO’s Enterprise Risk Management – Integrated Framework (Executive 
Summary) 
http://www.coso.org/documents/COSO_ERM_ExecutiveSummary.
pdf

COSO’s Strengthening Enterprise Risk Management for Strategic 
Advantage 
http://www.coso.org/documents/COSO_09_board_position_
final102309PRINTandWEBFINAL.pdf

Refer to the internal control section below for further information.

uBDO Insight

The audit committee should be alert for areas where 
management and senior management have the ability to 
override otherwise effective internal controls. Potential 
ways to mitigate override are included within the AICPA’s 
“Management Override of Internal Controls: The Achilles Heel 
of Fraud Prevention”25 and include independent review of 
financial reports, internal and external audit procedures and 
analytical review procedures. The audit committee should 
understand and assess how the auditors, both external and 
internal as well as the company’s compliance department, 
address the risk of management override of internal controls. 
For companies that have experienced issues in the past 
with respect to errors, fraud, and/or management override 
of controls, audit committees are further encouraged to 
perform look-backs on historical breaches of internal control 
and inquire as to how the organization is better prepared to 
address those risks today.

WHAT is the expected responsibility 
of the audit committee as compared 
to the board with respect to risk 
oversight?

Currently, there is debate over the division of responsibilities between 
the board of directors and other committees of the board (e.g., audit, 
compensation, finance and nominating committees), specifically with 
respect to risk oversight. While most agree that risk management is a 
shared responsibility, many would agree that audit committees should 
focus on risks related to financial reporting and not be overloaded with 
a company’s entire risk matrix. In 2009, the SEC issued Release No. 
33-9089 Proxy Disclosure Enhancements to enhance disclosures 
made regarding compensation policies and practices as they relate 
to risk management, board leadership structure and its role in risk 
oversight. The rule requires public companies to describe the board’s 
role in the oversight of risk, citing that this is a key competence of 
the board. The rule provides “flexibility” in describing how the board 
administers its risk oversight function, e.g., through the whole board or 
through a separate risk committee or audit committee. Based upon a 
review of various proxy statements filed during 2010, companies have 
taken different approaches in terms of disclosing the handling of risk: 
some boards delegate responsibility directly to the audit committee; 
others indicate broadly it is a shared responsibility between the board 
and its committees; while others detail the specific risk areas that each 
committee of the board is responsible for.

During a 2010 NACD Audit Committee Issues Conference, the 
Roundtable panel, which included directors from Fortune 500 
companies, generally agreed that the full board should oversee the 
strategic risks facing the company and indicated that it sees the audit 
committee’s responsibility for risk often narrowing to risks within 

http://www.coso.org/documents/COSOBoardsERM4pager-FINALRELEASEVERSION82409_001.pdf
http://www.coso.org/documents/COSOBoardsERM4pager-FINALRELEASEVERSION82409_001.pdf
http://www.coso.org/documents/COSO_ERM_ExecutiveSummary.pdf
http://www.coso.org/documents/COSO_ERM_ExecutiveSummary.pdf
http://www.coso.org/documents/COSO_09_board_position_final102309PRINTandWEBFINAL.pdf
http://www.coso.org/documents/COSO_09_board_position_final102309PRINTandWEBFINAL.pdf
http://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2009/33-9089.pdf
http://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2009/33-9089.pdf
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Navigating Economic Turbulence

Given the slow financial recovery that we continue 
to experience, investors are keenly interested in how 
management is planning to navigate the remaining 
economic turbulence. The following is a list of topics 
that those charged with governance should be 
prepared to address in connection with the current 
economic environment:

Planning for a Recovery. Given many forecasts for a slow, uneven 
economic recovery, shareholders may want to know if the company 
has adopted a comprehensive plan based on real-time reporting 
that will provide management with the ability to react quickly to 
opportunities or further downturns in the market.

Funding a Recovery. Despite positive economic signs in 
some business sectors and geographic areas, credit remains 
tight. Shareholders may want to know how management plans to 
access capital to fund current operations, build up inventories and 
fuel expansion should opportunities arise. 

Accessing Public Equity Markets. Despite the poor performance 
of initial offerings thus far in 2010, U.S. IPO activity is well ahead 
of last year’s pace and there is a pipeline of companies considering 
going public when the market is receptive.  Shareholders will want 
to know if that same market activity will translate to offerings 
from existing public companies and if management is considering a 
securities offering. 

Quality Controls. Most businesses have undertaken significant 
streamlining programs to deal with the recession. Shareholders may 
ask how these programs have affected quality control from both an 
operational and financial standpoint. 

SEC Compensation Risk Assessments. Reports of excessive 
compensation during times of poor economic performance have 
riled shareholders in recent years.  The SEC has introduced new 
requirements in 2010 for corporate compensation risk assessments 
at all levels.  Shareholders may want to know what the company 
has done to identify and address compensation risk in order to fulfill 
the new SEC requirements and avoid penalties. 

Financial Risk Management. Given the losses numerous 
companies sustained from investments in subprime mortgages, 
collateralized debt obligations, asset-backed securities, auction 
rate securities, etc, shareholders may want to know what risk 
management changes have been made to avoid similar losses in the 
future. 

Changing Accounting Practices: 

On-The-Balance Sheet. A number of financial institutions incurred 
losses rescuing off-balance-sheet entities. New accounting rules will 
require most of these entities to be consolidated. How will these 
“on-the-balance-sheet” entities impact financial statements moving 
forward? 

Are Companies Prepared for IFRS? The SEC has reiterated 
its support for a single set of high quality global accounting 
standards. While a decision as to how the SEC plans to integrate 
IFRS into the market for U.S. public entities will not be made until 
2011, shareholders may want to know: Is management, along with 
company-wide systems and processes, prepared to implement a 
conversion in the future; what the conversion may cost; and how it 
might affect earnings per share? 

Fair Value Accounting. Does the company expect to experience 
wide fluctuations in the value of assets and liabilities due to fair 
value accounting? 

Public Interest Issues. Will businesses be increasing their political 
contributions in light of the recent Supreme Court decision 
removing caps on corporate contributions? Shareholders may also 
ask for reports that describe the company’s environmental and 
sustainability policies.    

Impact of Changes To Income Taxes. Will new federal and state 
government tax initiatives – such as the Obama administration’s 
plans that could significantly change current tax provisions affecting 
foreign operations – impact the company’s ability to grow and 
invest in the business? 

the audit committee’s core areas of oversight – financial reporting, 
compliance, IT and sometimes, financial risks.26

WHAT is the audit committee’s role 
in the prevention, deterrence and 
detection of fraud?

No discussion of risk would be complete without a direct consideration 
of the risk of fraud and the responsibilities for dealing with fraud. AICPA 
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 99, adopted by the PCAOB as 
part of its interim standards (AU 316), outlines the following roles with 

respect to fraud: Auditors have the responsibility to consider the risk of 
fraud in planning and performing their audits, specifically as it relates 
to misstatements arising from fraudulent financial reporting (e.g., 
falsification of accounting records) and misstatements arising from 
misappropriation of assets (e.g., theft or fraudulent expenditures) that 
may lead to a material misstatement within the financial statements. 
However, “it is management’s responsibility to design and implement 
programs and controls to prevent, deter and detect fraud… Management, 
along with those who have responsibility for oversight of the financial 
reporting process (such as the audit committee, board of trustees, board 
of directors, or the owner in owner-managed entities), should set the 
proper tone, create and maintain a culture of honesty and high ethical 
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traits and abilities that play a major role in determining whether 
fraud will actually occur in the presence of pressure, opportunity, and 
rationalization. For audit committees, at the core of these fraud models 
is recognizing the presence and interaction of the risk factors underlying 
fraud as the key to oversight responsibilities for the detection, 
deterrence and prevention of fraudulent activity.

Building upon various fraud models and based upon its own 
investigative experience, BDO Consulting (BDOC) – a division of BDO 
USA, LLP – has identified certain conditions that often create a fertile 
environment for fraud and negatively impact the audit committee’s 
ability to oversee management’s anti-fraud initiatives. Such conditions 
include:
•	� Lack of awareness of fraud risk factors and warning signs
•	� Inadequate control activities to mitigate identified fraud risk
•	� Inadequate screening practices (for employees, vendors, customers 

and/or business partners)
•	� Insufficient understanding of ethical duties at all levels
•	� Ineffective mechanisms for reporting and investigating fraud
•	� Ineffective board and audit committee oversight

Corporate fraud continues to be a hot topic and a focus in the area of 
risk management for companies and particularly those charged with 

standards and establish controls to prevent, deter, and detect fraud. When 
management and those responsible for oversight of the financial reporting 
process fulfill those responsibilities, the opportunities to commit fraud 
can be reduced significantly.”27 Section 302(a)(5)(b) of the Act requires 
management, as part of its interim financial reporting certification, to 
disclose to the auditors and to the audit committee any fraud, whether 
or not material, that involves management or other employees who 
have a significant role in internal control.

Audit committees need to understand the following fraud risk factors 
that are generally present when fraud occurs: incentive or pressure to 
commit fraud (e.g., pressure to meet earnings goals); opportunity to 
commit fraud (e.g., absence/lack of controls, ability for management 
to override controls, etc.); and rationalization (e.g., attitude or lack of 
ethics that allows a person to commit fraud). Together, these factors 
make up what is widely known as the fraud triangle.

There are several variations, currently in circulation, to the fraud 
triangle. One such alternative is summarized in a report published 
by David T. Wolfe, a forensic accountant, and Dana R. Hermanson, a 
professor of accounting, adding a fourth element – human capability, 
thus, forming the fraud diamond,28 to consider an individual’s personal 

“The Audit Committee’s oversight responsibility for financial reporting risks transcends most enterprise risks 
faced by the organization. A financial reporting failure due to fraud often adversely impacts reputation, stock 
price, employee morale, and the ability to achieve strategic objectives.” 
– Glenn Pomerantz, Partner, BDO Consulting

Excerpted from the BDO Ac’sense 2009 self-study course – Focus on 
Fraud: Fraud and Misconduct in the Corporate World accessible at: http://
www.bdo.com/acsense/events/Focus-on-FraudSept09%20.aspx.

Excerpted from the BDO Ac’sense 2010 self-study course – Focus on 
Fraud: The Series Continues… accessible at: http://www.bdo.com./
acsense/events/Focus%20on%20Fraud%20-%20Lessons%20Learned.
aspx.

http://www.bdo.com/acsense/events/Focus-on-FraudSept09%20.aspx
http://www.bdo.com/acsense/events/Focus-on-FraudSept09%20.aspx
http://www.bdo.com./acsense/events/Focus%20on%20Fraud%20-%20Lessons%20Learned.aspx
http://www.bdo.com./acsense/events/Focus%20on%20Fraud%20-%20Lessons%20Learned.aspx
http://www.bdo.com./acsense/events/Focus%20on%20Fraud%20-%20Lessons%20Learned.aspx
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In February 2010, COSO issued “Fraudulent Financial Reporting: 
1998-2007,” a report29 which provided a comprehensive analysis 
of fraudulent financial reporting investigated by the SEC between 
January 1998 and December 2007. The study reviewed certain key 
company and management characteristics involved in instances of 
financial reporting fraud identified in SEC Accounting and Auditing 
Enforcement Releases (AAERs) and compared these companies 
to a non-fraud control group. The study further provided insights 
related to preventing, deterring, and detecting fraudulent financial 
reporting.

The report contains some interesting overall findings: Compared to 
the previous study conducted by COSO, which covered the period 
from 1987-1997, the number of alleged cases of financial reporting 
fraud increased from 294 to 347, an increase of approximately 
18%. The median fraud of $12 million in the recent study compares 
to a median fraud of $4 million in the previous study. Companies 
allegedly engaging in fraudulent financial reporting (which included 
start-ups through established companies) had median assets 
and revenues of just under $100 million compared to $15 million 
reported previously. These facts seem to indicate that the frequency 
of fraud is increasing; the size of the impact of fraud is increasing; 
and the size of the companies involved in alleged financial reporting 
fraud is also increasing. Improper revenue recognition continued 
to be the leading method of perpetrating financial reporting 
fraud within 61% of the cases (up from 50% of the cases in the 
previous study). No particular industry dominated the companies 
that experienced financial reporting fraud, however, “computer 
hardware/software” companies and “other manufacturing” 
companies each represented approximately 20% of the companies 

identified in the study. The exchanges on which companies that 
allegedly engaged in financial reporting fraud were traded also 
provide interesting information. Approximately 50% of the “fraud” 
companies in the current study were traded on NASDAQ. However, 
only approximately 24% of all publicly traded companies are 
registered on NASDAQ, which indicates a higher proportion of 
companies experiencing financial reporting fraud are traded on this 
exchange.

For a statistically significant number of cases of fraud noted in 
the COSO study, the company had been experiencing financial 
difficulties. In the majority of the cases, senior management 
was involved in the fraud and specifically, in 89% of cases, the 
AAERs named the CEO and/or CFO as being associated with the 
financial statement fraud. The most commonly cited motivations 
for fraud included the need/desire to: meet earnings expectations, 
conceal deteriorating financial condition, increase stock price, 
bolster financial performance for pending financings, increase 
compensation based on financial results, and cover up asset 
misappropriation. Other “red flags” highlighted in the report for 
fraud companies as compared to the non-fraud control group 
included higher rate of related party transactions and higher rate of 
change in external auditors. BDO notes the key take away from this 
report for all audit committees is the need to remain vigilant – be 
mindful of fraud risk factors, financial stress/pressures and other 
motivators of fraud, management’s tone at the top, etc. – and be 
willing to challenge management with respect to fraud.

Focus on Fraud:  
COSO Fraudulent Financial Reporting Study

governance. BDOC’s Fraud Prevention Program32 is based upon the 
belief that the effectiveness of board and audit committee oversight is a 
key element in significantly reducing the risk of fraud at an organization 
and increasing the likelihood that, if fraud does occur, it will be detected 
at an early stage. To achieve this, audit committees may consider 
employing the following best practices:33 

•	� Understand significant fraud risks that the company’s business is 
facing via fraud risk assessment and education

•	� Understand the programs and controls that management has 
developed for managing fraud risks, including relevant policies and 
procedures

•	� Develop alternative sources of information about what is happening 
in the company with respect to fraud risks

•	� Seek supporting documentation and be willing to ask difficult 
questions

•	�H ave mechanisms in place for both reporting (e.g., “whistle-blower 
hotlines”) and conducting independent investigations of fraud

•	� Independently assess and monitor the effectiveness of those 
mechanisms

For more information on the Fraud Prevention Program and best 
practices aimed at the prevention and detection of fraud and 
conducting internal investigations, you may access live webcasts along 
with archived replays of our Ac’senseSM webinar series: “Focus on Fraud” 
available at: http://www.bdo.com/acsense/ or reach out to a member 
of BDOC’s practice at litigationandfraud@bdo.com. 
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In October 2010, the CAQ released “Deterring and Detecting 
Financial Reporting Fraud – A Platform for Action,”30 focused on 
financial reporting fraud at publicly-traded companies of all sizes. 
This report is based upon a series of discussions and in-depth 
interviews of corporate executives, board and audit committee 
members, internal and external auditors, investors, regulators, 
academics and others. The report centers on three consistent 
themes identified by participants to mitigate the risk of financial 
reporting fraud: 
•	�A strong, highly ethical tone at the top that permeates the 

corporate culture; 
•	� Skepticism, a questioning mindset that strengthens professional 

objectivity, on the part of all participants in the financial reporting 
supply chain; and

•	� Strong communication among supply chain participants.

The report highlights the importance of “an effective fraud risk 
management program as a key component of the ethical tone 
at the top.” With regard to skepticism, “the CAQ discussion 
participants stressed that audit committee members should have 
industry and entity knowledge, including a strong understanding of 
the economics of the business, in order to identify and understand 
business and financial risks that may increase the likelihood of 
fraud.” Communication efforts by the audit committee should 
include routinely asking questions of management and auditors 
to “elicit indications of potential concerns related to incentives or 
opportunities for financial reporting fraud” and “seek opportunities 
to interact with management, employees, vendors and customers to 
enhance knowledge of the company and possible risks of financial 
reporting fraud.” 

The report contains the following suggested questions for audit 
committees to consider and to further customize when inquiring 
about financial reporting fraud to uncover potential sources of bias 
or influence on accounting judgments31:

1.		 What are the potential sources of business influence on the 
accounting staff’s judgments or determinations?

2.		 What pressures for performance may potentially affect financial 
reporting?

3.	 What about the way the company operates causes concern or 
stress?

4.	 What areas of the company’s accounting tend to take up the 
most time?

5.		 What kind of input into accounting determinations does non-
financial management have?

6.	 What are the areas of accounting about which you are most 
worried?

7.		 What are the areas of recurring disagreement or problems?
8.	 How does the company use technology to search for an 

unnatural accounting activity?
9.	 If a Wall Street Journal article were to appear about the 

company’s accounting, what would it most likely talk about?
10.	 �If someone wanted to adjust the financial results at 

headquarters, how would they go about it and would anything 
stop them?

Based upon this initial report, the CAQ intends to foster 
collaboration with key stakeholders (including the Financial 
Executives Institute, the NACD, the Institute of Internal Auditors, 
the PCAOB and others) and focus initial efforts on:
•	�A dvancing the understanding of conditions that contribute to 

fraud 
•	� Promoting additional efforts to increase skepticism
•	� Moderating the risks of focusing only on short-term results
•	�E xploring the role of information technology in facilitating the 

deterrence and detection of fraudulent financial reporting

Refer to the CAQ’s report available at: http://www.thecaq.org/
Anti-FraudInitiative/CAQAnti-FraudReport.pdf.

Focus on Fraud:  
CAQ Platform for Action

WHAT can the audit committee do to 
strengthen the audit function?

As indicated previously, the audit committee’s oversight responsibility 
for the audit function covers work performed by both external and 
internal auditors. 

External Auditors 

In addition to the questions posed earlier regarding continually 
evaluating the capabilities of the external auditors and 
communications, the audit committee should:

•	� Interview and evaluate the external auditors from the following 
perspectives:

	 –	�Audit approach – how the firm plans the audit, the timeliness of 
its services, the efficiency of its performance and how effectively 
it coordinates the work of other offices, both domestic and 
international. Also, how it polices its own performance, internal 
review approach and consulting procedures.

	 –	�Accessibility and location – the ability of the firm to respond 
to issues in a timely manner, including the relative proximity of 
the auditors to the company’s operating facilities and corporate 
headquarters. This can facilitate cooperation, understanding and 
face-to-face contact.

http://www.thecaq.org/Anti-FraudInitiative/CAQAnti-FraudReport.pdf
http://www.thecaq.org/Anti-FraudInitiative/CAQAnti-FraudReport.pdf
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The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, (FCPA), has 
been the recent focus of the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) and 
SEC Enforcement and has resulted in significant risk and penalty/
violation costs to companies, not to mention the exposure of 
directors to personal liability. The FCPA generally prohibits the 
practice of paying or offering to pay (directly or indirectly) money 
or anything of value to a foreign official to obtain or retain business. 
Violations under the FCPA can be broad-reaching and may result in 
significant fines and penalties with respect to anti-bribery provisions 
as well as to requirements for the maintenance of accurate books 
and records and the implementation of internal controls designed 
to prevent corrupt payments. For example, violations can result 
from:34

•	� Improper payments made by U.S. companies and citizens that 
take place either within the U.S. OR wholly outside of the U.S.

•	� “Payments” made in cash or anything of value (e.g., discounts, 
gifts, use of materials, facilities and equipment, entertainment, 
benefits, etc.)

•	�A pplication of the FCPA’s anti-bribery provisions not only 
to issuers but to “domestic concerns” (i.e., any corporation, 
partnership, association, joint-stock company, business trust, 
unincorporated organization, or sole proprietorship with a 
principal place of business in the U.S. or organized under U.S. law) 
as well

•	� Making improper payments to obtain government licenses, 
registrations, special tax or custom treatment which allow 
a company to do business in a foreign country (i.e., broad 
application – not just limited to those activities that directly 
influence the acquisition or retention of government contracts)

•	� Inappropriate activities conducted by third parties acting on 
behalf of the company that the company may be deemed to have 
(or deemed as should have had) knowledge of

•	� False characterization of improper payments on a company’s 
books and records – this includes books or records ultimately 
consolidated for financial reporting purposes

Note: The DOJ has predicated jurisdiction and thus, FCPA may apply to 
non-U.S. companies or concerns, including foreign corporations and 
foreign nationals, who commit any act in furtherance of a prohibited 
payment while in the territory of the U.S.

A recent article in Compliance Week35 reminds us that the SEC 
and DOJ have been “very vocal about their interest in identifying the 
highest-level individuals within the organization who are responsible 
for the tone, culture, or weak internal controls that may contribute 
to, or at least fail to prevent, bribery and corruption.” Knowledge 
of the potential for FCPA issues is the responsibility of the audit 
committee. Lack of awareness is not a defense when such issues 
arise. “Audit committees need to have an understanding of how 
exposed the company is with respect to bribery and corruption, 
where that risk lies, what controls are in place to mitigate it, and how 
management is testing those controls.” Best practices highlighted by 
BDOC’s Anti-Corruption Compliance & Investigations Practice36 
include the establishment of an FCPA compliance program which 
includes:

•	� Understanding and complying with applicable anti-corruption 
laws and regulations

•	� Performing due diligence on business relationships (individuals 
and entities)

•	� Communicating a consistent “top-down, zero-tolerance” 
message on creating and maintaining a corruption-free business 
environment throughout the organization

•	� Creating a comprehensive training program on anti-corruption 
policies and procedures to include:

	 –	�regular reporting by management to the audit committee about 
the Company’s compliance program

	 –	�documented assessment of an organization’s compliance 
program to demonstrate that the audit committee is fulfilling its 
fiduciary responsibility

	 –	�monitoring and regular updates to the program, as necessary

•	� Responding to allegations of corrupt activities and investigating 
them in a timely and comprehensive manner

Spotlight:  
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

	 –	�The management letter37 – the content of the firm’s letter of 
recommendations to management, including insights into the 
company’s business and internal accounting control needs, and the 
completeness of its approach.

	 –	�Working with the audit committee – the degree of initiative, 
cooperation and effectiveness of the firm’s work with the audit 
committee.

	 –	�Major litigation – the likely effect on its business of any significant 
pending lawsuits against the audit firm.

•	�O btain agreement from the auditors that the board (and therefore, 
the audit committee), rather than management, is the auditors’ 
primary client. To that end, the audit committee needs to make sure 
the auditors understand their need for a diligent, unbiased audit and 
an honest appraisal of management. This agreement can help provide 
free-flowing, candid discussions between the audit committee and 
the auditors.

•	� Review the audit fee to ensure that it is in line with the scope of 
the audit. Based on the review of the auditors’ scope and auditing 
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techniques, subsequent discussions with management about 
problems encountered and the auditors’ efficiency in handling the 
audit, the audit committee should be in a good position to evaluate 
whether the engagement time and resulting fees are reasonable. 
While it may be natural to review the fee solely from the perspective 
of being “too high,” a fee that is too low may actually provide more 
risk to the company. An “overly aggressive” negotiated fee can put 
significant pressure on the auditors when determining an appropriate 
audit scope that adequately addresses the higher risk areas.

Internal auditors

Much of the following can be likened to the responsibilities of the audit 
committee for external auditors, in that the audit committee should:

•	� Be apprised of the scope of the internal auditor’s work and its 
specific responsibilities. This would include review and approval of 
the internal audit department charter, which should describe the 
mission, accountabilities, independence, responsibilities, authority 
and standards for the department.

•	� Be involved in the hiring/termination, selection and compensation of 
the internal audit department.

•	�E valuate the adequacy of the internal audit department personnel, 
the department budget, as well as when appropriate changes in audit 
coverage should be made. 

•	� Review any plans to outsource the internal audit function. Challenge 
the pros and cons of such a proposal.

In addition, the audit committee should review the degree of 
coordination between the activities of the external and internal 
auditors. The audit committee should feel confident that the combined 
audit scope can be relied on to identify weaknesses in internal controls 
that could expose the company to fraud or material financial reporting 
errors. Moreover, the committee should encourage open and direct 
communications with the auditors. Internal auditors, as well as external 
auditors, must feel free to report control weaknesses (particularly those 
resisted by management) to the audit committee on a confidential 
basis without fear of reprisal.

The AICPA’s Audit Committee Toolkit contains two tools that 
may facilitate the audit committee’s evaluations: “Evaluating the 
Independent Auditor – Questions to Consider” (see prior discussion) and 
“Evaluating the Internal Audit Team – Guidelines and Questions.”38

uBDO Insight

Communication is a two-way street that should be designed 
to ensure that all of the parties involved understand each 
other’s responsibilities and that each receive relevant and 
timely information to allow those responsibilities to be 
fulfilled.

uInternal control over financial 
reporting

WHAT role does the audit committee 
play in the company’s internal 
control environment?

 “The audit committee plays a critical role in fostering 
a strong tone at the top, which is the foundation for a 
robust control environment.” 
– Wayne Kolins, Partner, Global Head of Audit and Accounting, BDO International 
Limited 

Compliance deadlines with respect to Section 404 of the Act on internal 
control over financial reporting have been in place for a while now for 
accelerated issuers and accelerated foreign private issuers. However, 
the debate has continued for non-accelerated issuers culminating most 
recently with the 2010 Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 
Protection Act. The Dodd-Frank Act provides for a permanent exemption 
on compliance with the external auditor attestation provision under 
Section 404(b) of the Act for non-accelerated filers. These companies 
will still continue to be required to provide management’s assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting under 
Section 404(a). Included within the Dodd-Frank Act is a further charge 
for the SEC to report within nine months of enactment ways to reduce 
Section 404(b) compliance costs for companies that have market 
capitalization between $75 million and $250 million. 

Though buried in a footnote, the 2007 SEC interpretative release 
on management’s report on internal control over financial reporting 
(ICFR) states, “Because management is responsible for maintaining 
effective [ICFR], this interpretive guidance does not specifically address 
the role of the board of directors or audit committee in a company’s 
evaluation and assessment of [ICFR]. However, we [the SEC] would 
ordinarily expect a board of directors or audit committee, as part of its 
oversight responsibilities for the company’s financial reporting, to be 
reasonably knowledgeable and informed about the evaluation process 
and management’s assessment, as necessary in the circumstances.” [FN 
22]39

The PCAOB also acknowledges that while the audit committee 
plays an important role, management is responsible for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting. However, as the 
audit committee is a crucial component of the control environment, 
the auditors, in connection with their responsibility to audit internal 
controls under Section 404 of the Act and PCAOB AS 5, will perform a 
separate and distinct evaluation of the audit committee’s effectiveness 
apart from the assessment performed by the board of directors. If 
audit committee oversight is deemed to be ineffective, PCAOB AS 5 
requires this shortcoming to be reported by the auditors to the board of 
directors in writing, and further assumes that this would be a material 
weakness in internal control.40
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In order to be knowledgeable about management’s evaluation and 
assessment of internal control, the audit committee needs a good 
understanding of the company’s framework and related components 
of internal control. A highly regarded framework used in practice is the 
COSO Internal Control – Integrated Framework41, which includes the 
following key integrated components:

“The benefits of an engaged and active audit committee as a component of the control environment cannot 
be over emphasized. An audit committee needs to be aware of the areas where bias in the financial statements 
could occur, and the motivations or pressures that could lead to such bias. They should “walk the talk” of 
the company’s core ethical values, ask probing questions of both management and the auditors and apply 
a challenging attitude to the financial information presented for review. This attitude will permeate the 
organization and its advisors and send a strong message to potential fraudsters.” 
– Sue Lister, Partner, National Director of Auditing, BDO USA, LLP
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•	 Control environment – tone of the organization

•	 Risk assessment – identification and analysis of relevant risks

•	 Control activities – policies and procedures

•	 Information and communication – relevance and timeliness

•	 Monitoring – ongoing assessment of controls

Understanding of the company’s control environment; how robust the 
risk assessment process employed by management is; what activities 
in the form of policies and procedures have been put in place by the 
company to meet risk management objectives; whether information 
and communications are relevant and timely to ensure adequacy of the 
internal control system; and how well the company is able to monitor 
existing controls to ensure they are operating effectively and efficiently 
is paramount for the audit committee to then be able to understand 
how and where things may go wrong. 

In this regard, auditors are required to report all significant deficiencies 
and material weaknesses, in writing, to the audit committee. The 
PCAOB defines a significant deficiency (SD) as a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those responsible for oversight of the company’s 
financial reporting.

The PCAOB defines a material weakness (MW) as a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, 
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected on a timely basis.42 

WHAT is the audit committee then 
expected to do with such information 
on reported SDs and MWs? 

If SDs or MWs are identified, the audit committee should 
ask the following:

•	�A re these issues pervasive throughout the company or limited to 
specific location(s) or account(s)?

•	� Were any of these issues noted in previous years and if so, what does 
this mean for establishment of an appropriate tone at the top and 
oversight of ICFR?

•	� What is management doing to remediate the issues? Is the scope and 
timing of this remediation adequate?
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•	� What additional controls, policies and/or procedures need to be 
implemented to ensure a more robust control environment?

•	 Given the issues noted, are there other areas that need re-evaluation? 

For more information on internal control over financial reporting 
considerations, you may access archived replays of our Ac’senseSM 
webinars available at: http://www.bdo.com/acsense/.

For further guidance on monitoring and considerations for smaller 
public companies with respect to internal controls, refer to the COSO 
website at: http://www.coso.org/. Specific publications include:

•	 COSO’s Guidance on Monitoring Internal Control Systems 

•	� COSO’s Internal Control over Financial Reporting – Guidance for 
Smaller Public Companies – provides guidance on how to apply 
the COSO ICFR Framework more effectively and efficiently by all 
companies, but particularly for smaller public companies where the 
costs of designing and implementing ICFR can often be prohibitive. 

WHAT is the audit committee’s role 
with respect to implementation of 
IFRS? 

While over 120 countries now require or permit IFRS, the U.S. remains 
the one major economy that has not yet committed to adoption of 
IFRS. Most U.S.-based companies are taking a wait and see approach 
to IFRS implementation. However, given the indicators laid out earlier 
in this publication that convergence to global standards is indeed 
continuing, and at a rapid pace, companies should be proactive in 
assessing the costs and current capabilities of meeting implementation 
requirements. Within the adoption and implementation of IFRS, the 
role of the audit committee will remain one of risk management and 
oversight. As such, while management is responsible for the preparation 
of IFRS financial statements, the audit committee is expected to be 
knowledgeable in determining: how implementation of IFRS will impact 
a company’s controls over risks; sufficiency of the level of management 
expertise; adequacy of plans to integrate the company’s business 
practices as well as its systems (e.g., IT, taxation, legal, contracts, 
etc.); how estimates and judgments are being made by management 
related to accounting policy choices in the initial adoption of IFRS; 
and how effects/results of IFRS reporting should be communicated to 
shareholders and analysts in ensuring integrity of financial reporting.

As indicated previously, there are significant differences between 
existing U.S. GAAP and IFRS, many of which may be wholly or partially 
eliminated prior to U.S. companies adopting IFRS and some of which 
will not. It is thus, not too early for company management along with 
their governing bodies to begin getting up to speed with not only the 
IFRS standards, but the way in which the IASB works and its objectives! 
For further insight into preparing for IFRS, refer to the BDO Knows: 
IFRS August 2010 Implications of IFRS for Audit Committees publication 
along with Ac’senseSM archived webcasts related to IFRS adoption and 
transition available within the BDO IFRS Resource Center at: http://
www.bdo.com/ifrs/.

uBDO Insight

BDO recently reported on its in-depth analysis and interviews 
with CFOs of 22 European Union-based companies who have 
recently converted to IFRS in BDO’s “Attitudes to IFRS v2.0.”43 
Some of the key findings include:

Focus on timing: All respondents said that they should have 
started their IFRS conversion much sooner. 

�Take time in identifying the right solution: A number of 
respondents commented that they would have taken the 
opportunity to revisit their accounting policies applied under 
local generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) had 
they started IFRS conversion early enough. Starting late meant 
missing opportunities to choose the most appropriate accounting 
policies for their business.

�Invest in staff and training during and after the move to IFRS: 
CFOs continue to invest significant resources, both internal and 
external, in IFRS conversion, educating and training their own 
staff, preparing transition balance sheets and issuing their first 
IFRS financial statements during an intense period of change. 

�Effectively manage behavioral change: Respondents noted that 
being proactive in foreseeing changes in company behavior 
through adoption was important, especially in areas such as 
sales-force incentive programs, mergers and acquisitions (M&A) 
activity and employee share-based payment plan arrangements. 

Use available materials: The majority of companies took 
advantage of publicly available IFRS financial statements to use 
as examples as well as benefitting from the later adoption of 
accounting standards. 

Early involvement of auditors and external advisors: Greater 
practical experience with the standards has helped recent 
IFRS conversions run more smoothly. However a number of 
respondents reported problems with the speed at which auditors 
cleared complex issues and financial statements. Early dialogue 
was seen as a potential way to improve this.

Effectively communicate with analysts: Some respondents noted 
the need to keep analysts up-to-speed and avoid surprises. 
However, there was not a great deal of consistency in analysts’ 
relative interest in IFRS, with some companies reporting that 
non-GAAP measures appeared to be more critical to analysts 
than the new IFRS numbers. 

Consider embedding IFRS in monthly reporting: Companies have 
mixed views on whether to use IFRS, local GAAP or adjusted 
IFRS non-GAAP measures to report and evaluate performance 
internally. But with many jurisdictions expected to permit 
adoption of IFRS for SMEs for local GAAP reporting purposes, 
extended use of local GAAP is expected to diminish significantly. 

IFRS standard setters need to remain focused: Some respondents 
are highly critical of the evolution of IFRS adopted in the 
European Union and are concerned that political interference 
could derail global adoption and the achievement of a single-set 
of high quality global accounting standards.

http://www.coso.org/
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WHAT is the audit committee’s role 
with respect to consideration of 
income tax matters? 

In an address to the New York State Bar Association’s Taxation Section 
Annual Meeting in January 2010, Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
Commissioner Doug Shulman made the following point with respect to 
the role of the corporate board within the tax compliance system: 

“Tax expenses are like other major expenses. Manage them too loosely 
and you give up profit. Manage them too aggressively and there are bad 
consequences. The board must oversee how management manages 
them [tax expenses]. And that means some level of understanding, a set 
of policy principles and then a control system of review and reporting 
that assures the board that their policy is being carried out. Many 
corporate boards do have a regular dialogue regarding tax risk with their 
CFOs, tax directors and external tax advisors. My goal is to promote 
good corporate governance on tax issues and engage the corporate 
community in a dialogue about the appropriate role of the board of 
directors in tax risk oversight. This will continue to be a theme of ours 
[IRS].”

The income tax area is one that stretches across international, federal, 
state and local, as well as political lines, and requires quite a bit of 
expertise in understanding the interplay of both the required financial 
reporting elements along with a company’s tax planning and risk 
management strategies. “Hot” (and complex) issues surrounding 
transfer pricing (that is, prices a company records for goods and services 
exchanged between related parties), foreign tax credits, withholding 
taxes, compensation and benefits, research and development credits, 
and M&A activity as well as the implications of ASC 740-10 (“FIN 48” 
measurement issues in accounting for uncertain tax positions) are just 
some of the many areas where taxes can have a significant impact on 
financial reporting for companies.  

Similar to the SEC’s focus on transparency and disclosure of risk and 
critical accounting estimates, the IRS appears to be quite interested in 
how companies govern the tax area. In the fall of 2010, the IRS issued 
two announcements (IRS 2010-75 and 2010-76) regarding the new IRS 
Schedule UTP detailing uncertain tax positions, a highly sensitive area 

of disclosure for many companies. While the final Schedule UTP requires 
certain taxpayers (i.e., those companies with assets of $100 million 
or greater) to begin disclosing their uncertain tax positions annually 
for 2010 taxable years, the recent announcements contain welcome 
guidance and clarification in response to strong public commentary 
received during the proposal phase. The announcements provide for a 
number of significant changes to the original draft Schedule UTP and 
disclosure requirements, easing the reporting required and deferring 
requirements for reporting for companies with assets under $100 
million to 2012 or 2014 depending on the amount of their assets.44  

Simply listing these various issues gives pause as to how extensive an 
area accounting for income taxes can be to an organization and the 
importance for the audit committees to ensure that they have the 
appropriate comfort level in regard to whom within the company and 
external to the company is advising them on tax matters. In addition, 
the audit committee, as an extension of the corporate board, should 
set the tone for the level of risk that is acceptable in assessing and 
taking company tax positions and regularly review the impact of those 
positions.

For further guidance in this area and on other topics of interest with 
regard to taxation, refer to the BDO Tax Service Line pages at: http://
www.bdo.com/services/tax/.

“The tax provision can represent a significant percentage of net income. Proper controls over financial reporting 
for income taxes are critical to ensuring accuracy and compliance with both GAAP and regulatory requirements. 
This has never been more critical than it is today when considering the breadth and depth of existing, new and 
proposed complex accounting and reporting guidance. Audit committees need to have a good understanding of 
this and the interrelation between accounting and taxation.” 
– Scott Guertin, Partner, National Accounting for Income Tax Practice Leader, BDO USA, LLP
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WHAT additional responsibilities are assigned to audit 
committees by the NYSE?

The NYSE places the following additional responsibilities on 
audit committees:

•	� Companies listed on the NYSE must have an internal audit 
function. The audit committee has oversight over this 
function.

•	� Receive training from companies they serve with respect to 
the companies’ corporate governance guidelines.

•	� At least annually: (i) obtain and review a report by the 
independent auditor describing the independent auditor’s 
internal quality control procedures; (ii) review any material 
issues raised by the auditor’s most recent internal quality 
control review; and (iii) assess the auditor’s independence.

•	� Discuss earnings press releases, as well as financial 
information and earnings guidance that are given to 
analysts and ratings agencies.

•	� Set clear hiring policies for employees or former employees 
of the independent auditors.

•	 Report regularly to the board of directors.

•	 Perform an annual self-assessment.

uProcedures for handling 
complaints

WHAT are the best practices for 
establishing procedures for handling 
complaints?

The audit committee must establish procedures for the receipt, 
retention, and treatment of complaints regarding accounting, internal 
accounting controls, or auditing matters, including procedures for 
the confidential anonymous submission by employees of concerns 
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

We recommend that audit committees adopt a formal “whistleblower 
policy” that includes the following:

•	 Responsibilities of the audit committee

•	 Procedures for receiving and investigating accounting complaints

•	 Policy for protecting whistleblowers

•	 Confidentiality policies for whistleblowers

•	 Policy for publication of whistle-blowing procedures

Companies may consider an anonymous telephone hotline as a means 
for employees to report complaints. 

Update: At the time of publication, there have been several 
developments which could greatly impact a company’s internal ethical 
culture and its whistleblowing and compliance policies. To summarize: 
(1) There is a heated debate with respect to the new whistleblower 
provisions contained in the Dodd-Frank Act, which greatly expands 
the SEC’s authority to grant bounty payments to persons who provide 
original information that leads to successful SEC enforcement and 
certain related actions. In November 2010, the SEC issued proposed 
implementation rules that would allow for awards that could range 
from 10 to 30 percent of the amount of monetary sanctions in cases 
over $1 million. The SEC has acknowledged the concern that these 
new rules would encourage whistleblowers to circumvent a company’s 
internal compliance policy and has attempted to address this in its 

 “As a best practice and in contemplation of scrutiny of perceived independence from outside authorities, audit 
committees should identify and engage independent counsel and/or advisors separate from company counsel/
advisors to provide guidance on fiduciary responsibilities and exposure.”
 – Lee Dewey, Partner, BDO Consulting

proposal. However, the effectiveness of these proposed rules remains 
to be seen. The comment period closed December 17, 2010. (2) 
Furthermore, recent amendments to U.S. sentencing guidelines now 
provide organizations with an increased opportunity to reduce the 
penalties imposed for violations of the law if they have an effective 
compliance and ethics program in place. As a result of these and other 
developments, the volume of whistleblower claims is expected to 
increase dramatically. Thus, companies will most certainly want to 
get up to speed quickly and “shore up” their ethics and compliance 
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programs in response.45 For further information, refer to future 
Ac’senseSM programming on these and other topics.

For further information on assessing whistleblower policies and 
oversight refer to BDO Consulting’s Fraud Prevention Program at: 
http://www.bdoconsulting.com/services/fraud-prevention-
consulting.aspx.

Additionally, within the appendix of the “Report of the NACD Blue 
Ribbon Commission on The Audit Committee” there is a sample 
whistleblower policy.46 

uAuthority to engage advisors

Under WHAT circumstances is it 
advisable for the audit committee 
to engage independent counsel and 
consultants?

The SEC requires that audit committees have the authority to engage 
independent counsel and other consultants as they deem necessary 
to carry out their duties. While one cannot predict all of the scenarios 
in which the audit committee may need to engage third parties, it is 
highly advisable to develop these third-party relationships early on and, 
if possible, before their services may be needed to conduct an internal 
investigation or in conjunction with significant business transactions or 
other matters. This becomes particularly important when confronted 
with instances of suspected or known fraud for which independent 
investigations may need to be assembled expeditiously.

In cases of suspected or discovered illegal or fraudulent activities, 
the audit committee may also consider the need to engage forensic 
accountants to provide a variety of skills with respect to proficiencies 
in accounting, investigative skills, computer technology and data 
analysis, interviewing, and litigation support. Legal counsel as well as 
public relations specialists are additional examples of third party service 
providers often consulted in contemplation of business transactions 
or in times of crisis. Whenever use of third party services is being 
considered, the audit committee should bear in mind the following best 
practices prior to engagement:

•	E valuate skills, competence and experience of service provider

•	E valuate independence/objectivity of service provider

•	�E stablish specific roles/responsibilities of management, audit 
committee and service provider with respect to issue being addressed 

•	� Document agreement between audit committee and service provider 
regarding execution of services to be provided, timing of services and 
fees to be paid

It is important to note that regardless of any outside assistance that 
the audit committee may engage, the audit committee has ultimate 
responsibility. It should be proactive by taking the lead in investigations 

into alleged fraudulent activity and illegal acts to ensure that the 
evaluation of such matters is escalated and receives immediate 
attention, is properly communicated to all parties involved and that 
investigations are executed properly and timely. For further guidance 
on this, please refer to BDO’s practice aid on Effective Mechanisms for 
Reporting, Investigating and Remediating Fraud within the Appendix as 
well as to BDO’s Ac’senseSM Internal Investigations archived webcast at: 
http://www.bdo.com/acsense/events/InternalInvestigations.aspx.  

For further information on how BDO Consulting’s investigations 
and compliance practice may be able to assist those charged 
with governance (i.e., audit committees), refer to: http://www.
bdoconsulting.com/services/consultingservices.aspx.

Funding

The issuer must provide appropriate funding for the audit committee 
to compensate the outside auditors and any independent counsel and 
advisors it engages and to fund ordinary administrative expenses of the 
audit committee that are necessary in carrying out its duties. 

In this regard, to quote from the SEC’s final standard relating to listed 
company audit committees47: “An audit committee’s effectiveness 
may be compromised if it is dependent on management’s discretion 
to compensate the independent auditor or the advisors employed 
by the committee…” Requiring the issuer to provide for appropriate 
funding “will further the standard relating to the audit committee’s 
responsibility to appoint, compensate, retain and oversee the outside 
auditor. It also will add meaning to the standard relating to the audit 
committee’s authority to engage independent advisors. Not only could 
an audit committee be hindered in its ability to perform its duties 
objectively by not having control over the ability to compensate these 
advisors, but the role of the advisors also could be compromised if 
they are required to rely on management for compensation. Thus, 
absent such a provision, both the audit committee and the advisors 
could be less willing to address disagreements or other issues with 
management.” 

http://www.bdo.com/acsense/events/InternalInvestigations.aspx
http://www.bdoconsulting.com/services/consultingservices.aspx
http://www.bdoconsulting.com/services/consultingservices.aspx


Effective Audit Committees in the Ever Changing Marketplace 32

uThe WHENs
WHEN should the audit committee meet with 
management, internal audit, and the independent 
auditors?

We recommend that audit committees establish a timeline for essential 
meetings yet be flexible and be willing to meet more frequently as 
circumstances warrant or as issues arise. At a minimum, we recommend 
that the audit committee, together with management and the 
independent auditors, meet at least five times per year: the start of the 
annual audit; at the end of the audit to discuss its results; as well as 
once a quarter to discuss the results of interim reviews. These meetings 
should precede the Company’s press releases. In addition, audit 
committees should meet formally with internal auditors at least twice 
a year – once to discuss the internal audit plan and once to discuss the 
results of the internal audit work. The audit committee is encouraged 
to hold executive sessions with the auditors, without management 
present, as often as deemed necessary. We further encourage more 
frequent contact between meetings between the audit committee and 
relevant parties, as circumstances warrant.

Who is required to attend and the frequency and duration of such 
meetings should be adjusted on an as needed basis to address risks and 
complexities faced by the company. Ample time should be reserved 
during the meetings so that the audit committee may speak freely and 
candidly with each of these parties and plan for executive or separate 
sessions (see following discussion) in which the audit committee may 
speak directly to these individual groups without the others present. 
To underscore the importance of the initial planning meeting in setting 
the tone and understanding with the auditors, the planning meeting 
typically would address the following items:

• �	�The auditor’s proposed audit plan and scope, including areas they 
have identified as key risk areas;

• �	�Expectations of the audit committee as to areas of focus or 
procedures they would like to have the auditors address;

• �	�Expectations of what kind of items, in addition to those required, that 
the audit committee would like to have the auditors communicate 
back to them;

• �	�A timeline for meetings, deliverables and other communications; and

•	�A greement as to the format of items to be reported to the audit 
committee (e.g., verbal, written or both).

It should be noted that the resulting audit plan and scope that are 
developed at the planning phase are not static and changes to this 
plan as a result of circumstances (either anticipated or otherwise) may 
dictate the need for additional meetings with the external auditors. 
The same risk management concept holds true for sessions with 
management and the internal auditors (see following section). These 
planning meetings, thus, serve as a good reference/check to refer to in 
future meetings to ensure that the risks identified either prior to the 
audit or as the year progresses are being addressed timely and that the 
audit is tracking according to plan and findings are being handled timely 
to reduce the likelihood that “surprises” are uncovered in the wrap-up 
phase of the reporting period. As a further point, if regularly scheduled 
meetings do not cover the results of the auditor’s “management 
letter”48 or matters discussed in conjunction with audits of internal 
control over financial reporting, we recommend that an additional 
meeting be scheduled to encompass noted areas for improvement. 
Please refer to the Appendix for a sample of BDO’s Model Audit 
Committee Meeting Agendas which provides a recommended timeline 
for various meetings including objectives, action planning and reporting 
to the board of directors.

Now, let’s turn to the HOWs of an effective audit 
committee…
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uThe HOWs

Charters – Roadmap and Resources publication, also included within the 
Appendix.

As an additional resource, many of the concepts that we have outlined 
within this publication specifically for audit committees are echoed by a 
publication issued by the NACD aimed more broadly at boards of public 
entities entitled “The Key Agreed Principles to Strengthen Corporate 
Governance for U.S. Publicly Traded Companies” available at: http://
www.nacdonline.org/keyprinciples.

HOW much time should an audit 
committee member expect to spend on 
committee work?

The complexity of the company’s activities, its stage of development 
and magnitude of its issues will determine the audit committee’s 
agenda. In addition, familiarity and experience of the audit committee 
members with the company’s operations are important factors 
in determining adequate time allotment. On average, the audit 
committee should plan for at least six meetings per year but that 
number may be on the “lighter” side, as discussed previously. The audit 
committee should meet to discuss scheduled matters, such as planning, 
quarterly financial information and the year-end audit but be prepared 
to schedule ad hoc sessions as circumstances warrant. Most audit 
committees try to schedule their meetings to coincide with regular 
meetings of the board, which may result in a more effective use of time. 
However, be wary of meetings that are squeezed into other agendas as 

HOW should an effective audit 
committee be governed?

The NYSE, NYSE AMEX, and NASDAQ require all listed companies to 
have an audit committee charter. As such, an audit committee should 
adopt a formal written charter that is focused on the mission of the 
audit committee. The charter should document the scope of the audit 
committee’s specific responsibilities, how those responsibilities are 
carried out, and the audit committee’s membership requirements. 
Rather than a “check the box” type of document, the primary purpose 
of the charter is to create a practical roadmap to help the audit 
committee achieve its goals. Thus, drafting a seemingly endless list of 
responsibilities may actually be counterproductive.

The sample Audit Committee Charter provided in the Appendix is for 
illustrative purposes only. As such, it may be a useful starting point for 
an audit committee to use in developing its own charter. In addition, we 
also recommend consideration of the AICPA’s Audit Committee Charter 
Matrix, which is available within the Audit Committee Toolkit accessible 
from the AICPA’s Audit Committee Effectiveness Center at: http://
www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/
Pages/ACEC.aspx.49 The audit committee charter represents a “living” 
document that audit committees may use in managing their meeting 
agendas.

In addition, we have created a document aimed at providing a roadmap 
of the audit committee’s specific responsibilities with regard to charters 
and a listing of other useful resources within our Audit Committee 
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this is usually an ineffective practice and it sends the wrong message as 
to the tone at the top.

Further thoughts about audit committee meetings and suggestions for 
their agendas are outlined in Model Audit Committee Meeting Agendas 
within the Appendix.

HOW does one maximize the benefits 
in conducting audit committee 
meetings?

Audit committee meetings need to be well organized. The audit 
committee needs to participate in the agenda-setting process up front 
along with other appropriate individuals (e.g., external and internal 
auditors and management), and the audit committee chair needs 
to preside over these meetings to ensure adherence to this agenda. 
Agendas should focus on the following:

•	 Risk management

•	A ccounting judgment/estimates and disclosures

•	 Information technology (IT) governance

•	 Internal controls

•	 Internal and external auditor effectiveness

•	 Legal/regulatory compliance

Receiving and reviewing meeting materials prior to audit committee 
meetings is an effective and efficient way to ensure that the high 
priority items get covered in the time allotted. A related best practice is 
to request highlighted materials in advance of meetings that focus on 
what has changed at a top-level so that audit committee members do 
not get “lost in the details.” Supporting detail should also be provided, 
particularly with regard to complex areas, for review.

Holding audit committee “executive sessions” is another best practice. 
Executive sessions are one-on-one meetings held between the audit 
committee and separately with key members of management, the 
internal audit function, and the external auditors. These sessions give 
the audit committee the opportunity to direct questions to individuals 
that may be awkward for the respondents to answer in the presence of 
others. 

Within the Appendix, we have included Sample Audit Committee 
Questions to Ask of Auditors and Management, a suggested listing of 
common questions that the audit committee may pose to management 
and auditors during its periodic meetings. In addition, within its Audit 
Committee Toolkit, the AICPA provides illustrative questions for audit 
committees to ask during executive sessions with management, the 
internal auditors, and the external auditors. The Toolkit is accessible 
from the AICPA’s Audit Committee Effectiveness Center at: http://
www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/
Pages/ACEC.aspx.50 

NACD’s “Ten Principles of Effective Audit Committee 
Oversight”

The NACD Blue Ribbon Commission on the Audit Committee 
recommends the following principles that they believe 
provide “a foundation for engaged, effective audit committee 
oversight”:

1.	� Be proactive in focusing the agenda on what’s important 
– financial reporting risk – and make the most of audit 
committee meetings.

2.	� Insist on transparency, both external transparency and 
internal transparency – among the audit committee, 
management and the internal and external auditors.

3.	� Focus closely on external financial communications – 
beyond the 10-K and 10-Q.

4.	� Question the continuing validity of assumptions that 
underlie critical accounting judgments and estimates, 
and be up-to-speed on key financial reporting issues and 
developments affecting the company.

5.	� Assess the audit committee’s role in the oversight of risk 
management, with an eye to clarifying the scope. 

6.	� Set clear expectations for the external and internal 
auditors.

7.	� Make sure the CFO and the entire finance organization, as 
well as internal audit, have what they need to succeed, 
and be sensitive to the strains on these organizations.

8.	� Assess the tone at the top and throughout the 
organization, including the effectiveness of compliance 
and anti-fraud programs.

9.	� Help link change and risk management, and monitor 
critical alignments (controls and risks).

10.	� Take a hard look at the audit committee’s effectiveness, 
including its composition and leadership, and find ways 
to continuously improve.

Source: “2010 Report of the NACD Blue Ribbon Commission on 
The Audit Committee” available for purchase at: http://www.
nacdonline.org/

http://www.nacdonline.org/
http://www.nacdonline.org/
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uBDO Insight

Principle 4 of the 2010 NYSE Commission Report on Corporate 
Governance indicates: “Good corporate governance should 
be integrated with the company’s business strategy and 
objectives and should not be viewed simply as a compliance 
obligation separate from the company’s long-term business 
prospects.”51 Audit committees are cautioned against falling 
into a checklist mentality where the basic goal is completion 
of the checklist itself, rather than conducting their own 
company-specific investigation. Accordingly, questions 
should be tailored to the circumstances of each company. 

HOW should an audit committee 
evaluate its own effectiveness?

We believe that an audit committee should conduct an annual 
assessment of its own effectiveness.52 There are a number of ways to 
conduct this self-assessment. We recommend that audit committee 
members complete a questionnaire such as the Audit Committee Self-
Assessment practice aid we have provided within the Appendix. The 
topics and issues for consideration within this questionnaire have been 
developed in conjunction with this publication, review of other widely 
available self-assessment tools and our knowledge and experience 
in working with both public company audit committees and private 
company committees charged with governance.

As there is always room for improving quality and performance, we 
recommend that the Audit Committee Self-Assessment practice aid be 
used in conjunction with your organization’s Audit Committee Charter 
(or similar document) to ensure that governance responsibilities 
are adequately aligned with the charter and are being fulfilled 
appropriately. You may choose to customize this self-assessment 
further to reflect specific attributes of your organization and develop 
specific action steps and estimated completion dates to enhance your 
committee’s performance.

Additionally, the AICPA Audit Committee Toolkit contains a sample 
questionnaire accessible from the AICPA’s Audit Committee 
Effectiveness Center at: http://www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/
AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/Pages/ACEC.aspx.53 

In addition to using the Audit Committee Self-Assessment practice aid, 
audit committee members may consider further performing evaluations 
of each other (with or without assistance from third-party consultants) 
and seek specific feedback from members of management, the 
external auditors, and the internal auditors. Honest self-assessments 
may uncover the need for a change in the composition of committee 
members to meet the strategic needs of the company.

As mentioned previously, the audit committee charter should be 
viewed and used as a working/living document. Thus, as part of the 

audit committee’s assessment of itself, the audit committee charter 
should also be updated, as necessary.

HOW should an audit committee 
remain current with regard to 
technical guidance?

The complexity and proliferation of today’s financial accounting 
and reporting guidance is mind-boggling. Continuing education of 
audit committee members is imperative to their effectiveness. This 
responsibility does not just reside with the designated “financial 
expert” but rather is shared by all members of the audit committee. We 
recommend periodic meetings between the audit committee and the 
external auditors, particularly the engagement partner, be scheduled 
to highlight issuances of new accounting and reporting standards and 
other “hot topic” areas and what the anticipated impact may mean 
to the company in light of consummated or contemplated business 
transactions. As part of the Ac’senseSM program, BDO offers periodic 
webinars aimed at breaking down complex accounting and reporting 
issues to a digestible level for financial executives, management and 
audit committee and board members. For a current listing of upcoming 
programs along with archived webcasts and self-study courses, please 
visit http://www.bdo.com/acsense/ or speak with your BDO audit 
engagement teams.

HOW should an audit committee 
report its responsibilities and 
activities to investors?

Audit committees are required to issue a report in connection with the 
company’s annual proxy statement. In this report, audit committees 
must state whether they have:

•	� Reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with 
management;

•	� Discussed with the independent auditors the matters required to be 
communicated (Refer to Auditor Required Communications with Audit 
Committees within the Appendix)

•	� Received the written disclosures and the letter from the independent 
auditors required by PCAOB Rule 3526, Communication with Audit 
Committees Concerning Independence, and has discussed with the 
independent accountant the independent accountant’s independence; 
and

•	� Recommended to the board of directors that the audited financial 
statements be included in the company’s Annual Report on SEC Form 
10-K.

Audit committees may also want to consider making additional 
disclosures to the public with respect to their involvement with non-
recurring transactions or special investigations – some of which may 
entail the audit committee engaging other advisors. 

http://www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/Pages/ACEC.aspx
http://www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/Pages/ACEC.aspx
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uConclusion
We have covered a lot of ground. The marketplace, in 
which companies and their audit committees function, 
continues to evolve and change. 

You now must ask yourselves: Is your organization prepared to meet the 
challenges that lay ahead for those in corporate governance positions 
to oversee your company in achieving its goals and meeting its 
responsibilities to shareholders and the regulatory community? As the 
rules of the marketplace continue to be enhanced, risks grow, and the 
financial, economic and ethical pressures continue to mount, the audit 
committees’ responsibilities widen and take on even more significant 
meaning in ensuring the health and longevity of the companies and 
boards that they serve. 

We hope you have found “Effective Audit Committees in the Ever 
Changing Marketplace” a helpful tool in directing you toward the 
important questions to be asked to better assist you in understanding 
the significant role of the audit committee and the positive impact it 
can have on a company.
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uAudit Committee Charters – Roadmap to Specific Duties 
and Responsibilities

Specific Duties and Responsibilities	 Source
Corporate governance

1. 	� Disclose annually whether or not the audit committee has a charter and, if so, provide a copy of the charter in the 
proxy, unless posted within the company’s website.

2. 	� Disclose annually whether or not the audit committee contains at least one financial expert (as defined) and if not, 
why not.

SEC requirements

3. 	�A dopt a written charter. The charter must contain the audit committee’s scope, structure and process. Audit 
committees must review and update their charters annually. The audit committee must be evaluated annually and 
must report annually on whether it has fulfilled its responsibilities under the charter.

4. 	 Consist of at least three members, who must be financially literate, one member must be a financial expert. 
5. 	H ave authority to investigate any matter.	

Exchange listing 
requirements or best 
practices

Oversight of financial reporting

1. 	 Include a report in each annual proxy. The required disclosures include: 
	 •	 Whether the audit committee discussed the annual financial statements with management. 
	 •	� Whether the audit committee discussed with external auditors the matters required to be discussed by SAS 61 (and 

any subsequent revisions). 
	 •	� Whether the audit committee received the external auditor’s disclosure regarding independence which is required by 

PCAOB Rule 3526 (and any subsequent modifications). 
	 •	� Whether based on review and discussion of the preceding three items, the audit committee recommends to the 

board of directors that the audited financial statements be included in the company’s annual report.

SEC requirements

2. 	 Review and discuss annual and quarterly statements and MD&A with management and auditors. 
3. 	 Review earnings releases and guidance provided to rating agencies. 
4. 	A pprove all related party transactions. 	

Exchange listing 
requirements or best 
practices

Oversight of auditors	

1. 	 Be responsible for the appointment and compensation of the external auditor. 
2. 	�O versee the external auditor’s work, including resolution of any disagreements between the auditor and 

management on financial reporting. 
3. 	 Pre-approve audit and nonaudit services provided by the external auditor. 
4. 	� Review reports submitted by the external auditor, including the auditor’s reports on critical accounting policies 

and practices, alternative treatments discussed with management and their ramifications, and the auditor’s 
preferred treatment. The auditor must report other material written communications with management, such as 
management letters or schedules of unadjusted differences.

SOX requirements

5. 	E nsure external auditor is accountable to both board and audit committee. 
6. 	E nsure auditor independence. 
7. 	O versee the internal audit function.
8. 	E nsure open communication and information flow with management and auditors.

Exchange listing 
requirements or best 
practices

Oversight of compliance, ethics and controls

1. 	� Review reports submitted by management. (Management must disclose to both the auditors and the audit 
committee significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design of internal controls that could adversely 
affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial data. They must also disclose any 
fraud involving management or others who have a significant role in internal controls.) 

2. 	� Provide procedures to receive, retain, and treat complaints, as well as procedures to confidentially handle employee 
complaints (whistle-blower protection). 

SOX requirements

3. 	� Monitor system of compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. Oversee internal audit function. Oversee 
system for compliance with ethical codes.	

Exchange listing 
requirements or best 
practices
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uIllustrative Audit Committee Charter
The following illustrative Audit Committee Charter is intended as an example to assist the audit committee in constructing its 
own company-specific1 charter that will be used as a working document or practical roadmap to outline its responsibilities and 
required duties. The charter should be assessed continually, but at least annually, to ensure that it captures and portrays the 
role of the audit committee accurately. 

Note: The information below may further be converted to a matrix to allow listing of specific action steps and defined deliverable dates.

Committee Role
The committee’s role is to act on behalf of the board of directors and oversee all material aspects of the company’s financial reporting, internal 
control and audit functions, except those specifically related to the responsibilities of another standing committee of the board. The audit 
committee’s role includes a particular focus on the qualitative aspects of financial reporting to shareholders and on company processes for the 
management of business/financial risk and for compliance with significant applicable legal, ethical and regulatory requirements. The role also 
includes coordination with other board committees and maintenance of strong, positive working relationships with management, external and 
internal auditors, counsel and other committee advisors.

Committee Membership
The committee shall consist of at least three independent, non-executive board members. Committee members shall have: (1) knowledge of the 
primary industries in which the company operates; (2) the ability to read and understand fundamental financial statements, including a company’s 
balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash flows and key performance indicators; and (3) the ability to understand key business and 
financial risks and related controls and control processes. The committee shall have access to its own counsel and other advisors at the committee’s 
sole discretion. At least one member, preferably the chair, should be literate in business and financial reporting and control, including knowledge of 
the regulatory requirements, and should have past employment experience in finance or accounting or other comparable experience or background 
and shall be deemed ”an audit committee financial expert”2. Committee appointments shall be approved annually by the full board upon 
recommendation of the nominating committee. The committee chairperson shall be selected by the committee members or by the nominating 
committee.

Committee Operating Principles
The committee shall fulfill its oversight responsibilities within the context of the following overriding principles:

Communications
The chair and others on the committee shall, to the extent appropriate, maintain an open avenue of contact throughout the year with senior 
management, other committee chairs and other key committee advisors (e.g., external and internal auditors, etc.), as applicable, to strengthen the 
committee’s knowledge of relevant current and prospective business issues.

Education/Orientation
The committee, with management, shall develop and participate in a process for review of important financial and operating topics that present 
potential significant risk to the company. Additionally, individual committee members are encouraged to participate in relevant and appropriate 
education to ensure understanding of the business and environment in which the company operates.

Annual Plan
The committee, with input from management and other key committee advisors, shall develop an annual plan responsive to the “primary 
committee responsibilities” detailed herein. The annual plan shall be reviewed and approved by the full board.

1	 In constructing its charter, the audit committee needs to consider the specific responsibilities and requirements of the audit committee as outlined under SEC rules as well as the 
Company’s respective listing exchange and should include consideration of additional facts and circumstances specific to the Company.
2	A s defined under applicable SEC rules.
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Meeting Agenda
Committee meeting agendas shall be the responsibility of the committee chair, with input from committee members. It is expected that the chair 
will also ask for management and key committee advisors, and perhaps others, to participate in this process.

Expectations and Information Needs
The committee shall communicate committee expectations and the nature, timing and extent of committee information needs to management, 
internal auditors and external parties, including external auditors. Written materials, including key performance indicators and measures related to 
key business and financial risks, shall be received from management, auditors and others at least one week in advance of meeting dates. Meeting 
conduct will assume committee members have reviewed written materials in sufficient depth to participate in committee/board dialogue.

External Resources
The committee shall be authorized to access internal and external resources, as the committee requires, in carrying out its responsibilities. This 
includes the authority to hire and terminate internal and external auditors and advisors, as well as the responsibility to approve services and fees 
paid to such resources.

Meeting Attendees
The committee shall request members of management, counsel, internal and external auditors, as applicable, to participate in committee meetings, 
as necessary, to carry out the committee’s responsibilities. Periodically and at least annually, the committee shall meet in private sessions with only 
the committee members. It shall be understood that meetings between the committee and/or the committee chair with either internal or external 
auditors, or counsel, may, at any time, be deemed necessary, with or without management’s attendance. In any case, the committee shall meet in 
executive sessions separately with internal and external auditors, at least annually.

Meeting Frequency
The committee shall meet at least quarterly. Additional meetings shall be scheduled as considered necessary by the committee or chair.

Reporting to the Board of Directors
The committee, through the committee chair, shall report periodically, as deemed necessary, but at least semiannually, to the full board. In 
addition, summarized minutes from committee meetings, separately identifying monitoring activities from approvals, shall be available to each 
board member at least one week prior to the subsequent board of director’s meeting.

Self-Assessment
The committee shall review, discuss and assess its own performance as well as its role and responsibilities, seeking input from senior management, 
the full board and others. Changes in role and/or responsibilities, if any, shall be recommended to the full board for approval.

Committee Responsibilities

Financial Reporting
• 	�Discuss, review and assess the annual and interim financial statements with management and the auditors before they are released to the public 

or filed with the SEC and formally recommend to the board that the audited annual financial statements be included within the company’s annual 
report filed with the SEC.

• 	�Discuss, review and assess the key financial statement issues and risks, their impact or potential effect on reported financial information, the 
processes used by management to address such matters, related auditors’ views, and the basis for audit conclusions.

• 	Approve changes in important accounting principles and the application thereof in both interim and annual financial reports.

• 	�Advise financial management and the auditors that they are expected to provide a timely analysis of significant current financial reporting issues 
and practices.

Risks and Controls
• 	�Review and assess the company’s business and financial risk management process, including the adequacy of the overall control environment and 

controls in selected areas representing significant risk.

uIllustrative Audit Committee Charter continued
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• 	�Review and assess the company’s system of internal controls for detecting accounting and financial reporting errors, fraud and defalcations, 
legal violations, and noncompliance with the corporate code of conduct. In that regard, review the related findings and recommendations of the 
external and internal auditors, together with management’s responses.

• 	Review with legal counsel any regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements.

• 	Review the results of the annual audits of directors’ and officers’ expense accounts and management perquisites prepared by the internal auditors.

External and Internal Auditors
• 	Recommend the selection of the external auditors for approval by the board of directors.

• 	�Instruct the external auditors that they are responsible to the board of directors and the audit committee as representatives of the shareholders. 
In that regard, confirm that the external auditors will report all relevant issues to the committee in response to agreed-upon expectations.

• 	Review the performance of the external and internal auditors.

• 	�Obtain a formal written statement from the external auditors consistent with standards set by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. 
Additionally, discuss with the auditors any relationships or nonaudit services that may affect their objectivity or independence.

• 	�Consider, in consultation with the external and internal auditors, their audit scopes and plans to ensure completeness of coverage, reduction of 
redundant efforts and the effective use of audit resources.

• 	�Review and pre-approve requests for any audit-related or permitted non-audit services to be performed by the external auditors, and be advised 
of any other study undertaken at the request of management that is beyond the scope of the audit engagement letter.

• 	�Review with management and the external auditors the results of the annual audits and related comments in consultation with other committees 
as deemed appropriate, including any difficulties or disputes with management, any significant changes in the audit plans, the rationale behind 
adoptions and changes in accounting principles, and accounting estimates requiring significant judgments.

• 	�Provide a medium for the external auditors to discuss with the audit committee their judgments about the quality, not just the acceptability, of 
accounting principles and financial disclosure practices used or proposed to be adopted by the company.

• 	Discuss the significant findings of the audit including:
	 –	Critical accounting policies and practices used by the company;
	 –	�Alternative accounting treatments within generally accepted accounting principles related to material items that have been discussed with 

management; and 
	 –	�Other material written communications between the accounting firm and management (e.g., management representation letters, engagement 

letters, etc.).  

• 	�Review with the external auditor the audit firm’s quality control policies and procedures and any material issues raised by the most recent internal 
quality control review of the firm.

• 	Approve changes in the directors of the internal audit function.

• 	Instruct the internal auditors that they are responsible to the board of directors through the committee.

• 	Review with the internal auditors any changes in the scope of their plans.

• 	Review with the internal auditors the results of their monitoring of compliance with the code of conduct.

Other
• 	�Establish and monitor procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the company regarding accounting, internal 

accounting controls or auditing matters, including procedures for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the company of 
concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

• 	Prepare the required audit committee report to be included within the company’s annual proxy statement. 

• 	Review and update the committee’s charter at least annually.

• 	Review and update the company’s code of conduct.

• 	Review and approve significant conflicts of interest and related party transactions.

• 	�Conduct or authorize investigations into any matter within the committee’s scope of responsibilities. The committee will be empowered to retain 
independent counsel and other professionals to assist in conducting any investigation.

uIllustrative Audit Committee Charter continued
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uModel Audit Committee Meeting Agendas
The following Model Audit Committee Meeting Agendas suggest the timing, objectives, specific actions to be performed, and communications to 
be made to the board for certain audit committee meetings. The agendas were prepared assuming a six-meeting schedule, and are not intended 
to be all-inclusive. Rather, meetings should reflect the Company’s specific circumstances and the audit committee’s particular concerns. Meetings 
typically begin with a discussion of matters of mutual interest among the audit committee, management, and external and internal auditors. The 
audit committee may then meet privately with each to discuss candidly sensitive or confidential matters. It may also be appropriate for Company 
counsel and/or outside counsel to attend certain meetings. Material to be discussed at meetings should be clearly prepared and sent to the 
committee members in sufficient time for them to digest it, so the actual meeting time can be used most productively. While the audit committee’s 
activities should be carefully planned, its operating structure should not be immutable. Even if the Company’s business has not changed recently, 
the audit committee should re-examine its duties and performance level over the last year. This regular self-assessment and review of the audit 
committee charter1 should be built into the meeting calendar.

Quarterly Review Meetings

Timing
Before the release of earnings or as soon thereafter as practical.2 

Meeting Objectives
To discuss with the external auditors the impact of significant matters noted in the review of the interim financial 
information.

Action
Ensure pre-approval of audit and permitted non-audit services prior to any work being performed.3

Discuss any of the following matters as they relate to the interim financial statements:

• 	A ny significant new changes in accounting policies, including their quality (not just their acceptability)

• 	 Management judgments and accounting estimates

• 	 Significant adjustments made or proposed

• 	O ther information contained in documents containing the financial statements

• 	 Disagreements with management

• 	 Consultation with other auditors

• 	 Difficulties encountered in performing the review

Report to Board
Describe permitted non-audit services to be provided by the external auditors and conclude whether such services 
could impair independence. Communicate any significant items identified by the external auditors as a result of their 
review procedures.

1	 Refer to the BDO Audit Committee Self-Assessment and Illustrative Audit Committee Charter practice aids.
2	 Due to tight time constraints, these meetings may be conducted telephonically.
3	N ormally done during the first quarter.
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uModel Audit Committee Meeting Agendas continued

Audit Planning Meeting

Timing
Several weeks or months before the start of the audit.

Meeting Objectives
To review the external auditors’ integrated audit plan and anticipated non-audit services, and the scope and activities 
of the internal auditors for the past year. Consider the following:

Risks and Internal Controls
• 	 Business and financial risks identified by management and the auditors
• 	 Management override
• 	 Industry conditions
• 	E xternal auditors’ most recent management letter
• 	 Problem areas noted in prior year’s audit
• 	 Sensitive matters
• 	 Internal auditors’ reports

Audit Scope in Light of Current Business Circumstances
• 	A ccounting and auditing developments
• 	 Significant changes in Company activities
• 	 Changes in accounting policies
• 	A udit timing
• 	 Locations to be examined
• 	 Personnel being assigned to the audit
•	A ssistance to be provided by the internal auditors
• 	 Involvement of other auditors
• 	� Planned reliance on internal accounting controls (including computer security programs) to be used in 

conjunction with the integrated audit 
• 	 Use of computer assisted auditing techniques
• 	A reas for special procedures
• 	 Review for fraud or other improprieties
• 	 Rotation of audit procedures
• 	E stimated audit fees
• 	 Proposed non-audit services
• 	 Comparison of operating results with prior year

Action
Approve external auditors’ integrated audit plan and the scope of the internal audit plan..

Report to Board

Discuss any issues carried over from the prior year; describe scope and timing of the integrated audit, which includes 
internal control over financial reporting; highlight all significant matters affecting the financial statements; describe 
non-audit services to be provided by the external auditors; and conclude whether such services could impair 
independence.
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uModel Audit Committee Meeting Agendas continued

Pre-Earnings Release Meeting

Timing
At or near completion of the audit and before the earnings release.

Meeting Objectives
To review the audit findings, the drafts4 of the financial statements, and (if available) the annual stockholders’ report. 
Consider the following:

Review of Audit
• 	 Deviations from audit plan
• 	A ccounting and auditing developments
• 	 Difficulties or delays
• 	A uditors’ judgment about the quality of the accounting policies and financial disclosure practices
• 	 Significant matters and discoveries
• 	 Restrictions encountered
• 	 Unresolved matters
• 	 Disagreements with management
• 	 Significant audit adjustments and those waived because of immateriality
• 	 Significant deficiencies and material weaknesses identified
• 	 Independence issues

Review of Preliminary Draft of Financial Statements
• 	T he auditors’ responsibility under generally accepted auditing standards
• 	 Management’s significant judgments and accounting estimates
• 	 Significant audit adjustments made or waived
• 	O ther information in documents containing the audited financial statements
• 	T iming of release

Action
Approve audit findings, earnings release and preliminary draft of annual financial statements.

Report to Board
Discuss conduct and findings of the audit; significant deficiencies and material weaknesses identified; any 
disagreements between external auditors and management; and recommend release of earnings and clear draft of 
basic financial statements.4

4	T his represents the basic financial statements themselves and not the corresponding notes to the financial statements which may not be ready at this point in time and would typically 
be discussed during the post earnings release meeting.
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uModel Audit Committee Meeting Agendas continued

Post-Earnings Release Meeting

Timing
After the release of earnings, upon availability of a draft of Form 10-K and receipt of external auditors’ management 
letter.

Meeting Objectives
To review the year’s work and recommended improvements in internal controls not otherwise communicated; 
approve internal audit plan for coming year; and recommend external auditors for the coming year.

	 Review of Form 10-K and Auditors’ Report
	 • 	 Completeness and transparency of disclosures, including risks and uncertainties
	 • 	 Consistency of annual report text with financial statements
	 • 	 Wording of auditors’ report – qualifications or modifications

	 Review of Internal Controls
	 • 	 Management’s assessment of internal controls and suggested changes
	 • 	E xternal auditors’ management letter recommendations
	 • 	 Internal auditors’ recommendations and audit plan for next year

	 Performance Review
	 • 	E valuation of external auditors by:
		  –  �Management
		  –  Internal auditors
	 • 	� Retrospective review of prior year’s quarterly reviews and integrated audit to determine how to improve 

efficiency and effectiveness
	 • 	E valuation of internal auditors and staff by external auditors
	 • 	E valuation of financial and accounting personnel by external auditors
	 • 	 Recommendations from all parties for improvements in audit approach and financial disclosure
	 • 	 Review of auditors’ fees for the work performed
	 • 	 Self-assessment of audit committee and review of charter5

Action
Follow up with management as to improvements to be made to internal controls and changes in accounting 
methods, approve internal audit plan for the coming year and decide upon the recommendation of external auditors 
to the board.

Report to Board
Summarize the year’s work including recommended improvements in internal controls or changes in accounting 
methods; discuss reporting issues; recommend external auditors for the coming year; and recommend changes to the 
audit committee charter, as necessary.

5	 Refer to separate BDO Audit Committee Self-Assessment and Illustrative Audit Committee Charter practice aids.
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uSample Audit Committee Questions to Ask of Auditors 
and Management
To assist the audit committee in performing its duties, the following is a list of questions they may ask the auditors and 
management in the context of periodic discussions (i.e., audit planning meeting; quarterly review meetings; and pre- and 
post-earnings release meetings).1 However, committees are cautioned against falling into a checklist mentality where the 
basic goal is completion of the checklist itself, rather than conducting their own company-specific investigation. Accordingly, 
these questions should be tailored to the circumstances of each company. You may find many of the following questions are 
appropriate to ask more broadly of both the auditors and management.2 

1	A udit committee may wish to refer to the BDO Financial Reporting Letter on Shareholder Questions available at: http://www.bdo.com/publications/assurance/finrptnl/FRL-
SQs-5-07.pdf for additional questions to ask regarding specific accounting, financial reporting and governance matters.
2	 For additional questions for audit committees to consider with respect to IFRS, refer to IFRS Implications for Audit Committees available on the BDO IFRS Resource Center at: 
http://www.bdo.com/ifrs/practice.aspx

Audit Planning Meeting

Ask the External Auditor
•	� Did you discuss any major accounting or auditing issues with management prior to your retention, your responses to which were, or might be 

considered to be, a condition of your retention? 
•	 (If there is a new auditor this year) What steps will be taken to ensure an orderly transition from the prior auditor? 
•	� What is the planned scope of your audit, i.e., will all of the subsidiaries be examined, what percentage of inventories will be observed, what 

percentage of accounts receivable will be confirmed, how will you verify accounts payable? Will auditing procedures be rotated (i.e., financial 
statement areas, locations, etc.)? 

•	A re there any subsidiaries or activities that will not be audited that present business or financial risks but are not viewed as “material?” 
•	H ow can your planned audit scope be relied upon to detect material errors, fraud, illegal acts or material weaknesses in internal control? 
•	H ow will the involvement of the internal auditor be coordinated with your integrated audit? 
•	� Does the Company use the services of other external auditors? What is the percentage of assets, revenues and net income for which they will 

be responsible? How will you determine the quality of their work? Will your report make reference to the other external auditors? 
•	A re there any concerns with how management controls key business processes? Have the key processes been appropriately identified?
•	A re there any areas where the Company could be of greater assistance to reduce the amount of time spent by you? 
•	� Will your risk assessment of the internal control policies and procedures enable you to reduce audit testing performed in conjunction with the 

integrated audit? 
•	 What risk assessment techniques will you use? 
•	 What criteria do you use to determine materiality? 
•	H ow will you utilize computer auditing techniques to review our computer processes? 
•	 Will you use statistical sampling? 
•	H ow does the planned scope of your integrated audit differ from the prior year? 
•	�H ow do you intend to staff the engagement? Will there be personnel continuity from the prior year? What is the expected level of 

participation by the engagement partner? 
•	H ow do you plan to detect the existence of related party transactions? 
•	A re there any proposed accounting, auditing or reporting rules that could materially affect the Company’s financial statements? 
•	H as the Company adopted any significant eBusiness strategies and if so how will you audit them? 
•	H ow do you ensure independence? Are there any matters that might reasonably be thought to bear on your independence? 
•	A re there any unresolved questions from the prior year’s audit? 
•	 Do you anticipate any special problems in this year’s audit? 
•	� (If applicable) Are there transition plans in place for the required rotation of the engagement partner (and/or the engagement quality review 

partner)?
•	 Did the PCAOB inspect our Company’s audit? If so, were there any deficiencies noted?

http://www.bdo.com/publications/assurance/finrptnl/FRL-SQs-5-07.pdf
http://www.bdo.com/publications/assurance/finrptnl/FRL-SQs-5-07.pdf
http://www.bdo.com/ifrs/practice.aspx
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uSample Audit Committee Questions to Ask of Auditors and Management continued

3	 For further audit committee guidance with respect to financial reporting fraud, refer to separate BDO practice aid entitled, “Strengthening Corporate Governance – Effective Fraud 
Programs.

Audit Planning Meeting

Ask the Internal Auditor
•	�H as management been responsive to your and the external auditor’s previous findings and recommendations? What previous year internal 

control recommendations from either the external auditor or as a result of your procedures have not been adopted?  
•	 Were there any areas of concern that were not reviewed due to budget or other limitations? 
•	H ave your audits identified areas of concern to the overall corporate environment? Have any specific locations or areas been identified? 
•	 Does management give appropriate consideration to your views? 
•	 What is your relationship with the external auditors? 
•	�H ow would you assess the information systems control environment, including key business information systems? How is security over these 

systems maintained? 
•	 What work will you be doing to assist the external auditors? Could this work be expanded for greater audit efficiency? 
•	H ow do you monitor the Company’s policies and procedures to prevent improprieties?
•	 What were the scope and results of internal audits this past year? 
•	H ow are risks identified?
•	 What procedures are in place to prevent/address the risk of management override of controls?
•	�H ow is the internal audit staff remaining current with respect to changes in accounting and financial reporting requirements? Are there 

appropriate training mechanisms in place?
•	� (For multi-locations) Do you and the external auditors plan to visit all of the Company’s locations this year? If not, what are your criteria for 

site visits?

Ask Accounting Management
•	 Were there any major changes in operations this year?
•	A re there any areas that require special attention due to high business or financial risks?
•	 What are the Company’ policies and procedures to deter conflicts of interest and illegal acts, and how are they monitored?
•	H ow does the Company minimize the risk of fraudulent financial reporting?3

•	� What are the Company’s revenue recognition policies? Are there instances where we may be pushing the limit? Does the Company have bill 
and hold or consignment arrangements? 

•	� Does the Company have any policies or practices to identify if any side agreements exist? Does the Company discourage the issuance of side 
agreements?

•	A re there any major write-downs or other significant transactions that will affect the financial statements? 
•	� Were there any significant changes in accounting estimates or models used in making accounting estimates? If yes, what changes were made 

and what are the financial statement effects? 
•	 Is the Company contemplating any changes in accounting methods? 
•	 Should the audit committee be aware of any problems or legal difficulties? 
•	 Does management have the appropriate resources to assess the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting?
•	�A re there policies and procedures in place for disclosing internal accounting control deficiencies and frauds or illegal acts identified to the 

auditors and the audit committee?
•	�H ow is management remaining current with respect to changes in accounting and financial reporting requirements? Are there appropriate 

training mechanisms in place?
•	H ow do you define materiality? How is this different from the auditors’ determination of materiality?
•	 Were there any significant systems implemented or modified that could impact processing of transactions? 
•	� What is the company’s current exposure to IFRS (i.e., statutory requirements, foreign subsidiaries, acquisition targets, significant competitors 

that currently report on IFRS)?
•	� What is the company’s current level of IFRS knowledge? Does the company have adequate resources currently to begin to formulate a 

transition plan?  
•	 Is management monitoring the status of IFRS standard-setting?
•	�H as management and the audit committee begun assessing risks to the company associated with application of IFRS throughout the 

organization?
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uSample Audit Committee Questions to Ask of Auditors and Management continued

Quarterly Review Meetings

Ask the External Auditor	
•	� What are your procedures for ensuring audit committee pre-approval of audit and non-audit services?4

•	� What non-audit services do you expect to provide the Company and what are the approximate fees? How may performance of these services 
affect your independence?5

•	� What was the scope of the review?
•	�A re the accounting principles or financial reporting practices used by the Company only marginally acceptable? If so, what alternative 

principles or financial reporting would you recommend? 
•	�A re there any accounting principles or financial reporting practices used by the Company acceptable only because their impact is not 

considered material to the financial statements? Might they cause a material impact in the future? 
•	� Were there any changes made in significant accounting policies or their applications? If so, why were they made and what was the financial 

statement impact? Were there other alternatives that could have been selected? 
•	A re there any concerns about the Company’s timely recognition of potential financial reporting issues or recognition of revenue? 
•	 Was there any fraudulent financial reporting noted? 
•	 Were there any disagreements with management and, if so, how were they resolved? 
•	 Were there any consultations with other accountants? 
•	 Were there any difficulties encountered in performing the review, including timing?  
•	 Were any adjustments or disclosures proposed by you and not recorded by the Company? 
•	A re there any unresolved matters? 
•	 Were there any unusual items that affected earnings? Are they properly accounted for and disclosed? 
•	� Based upon your review procedures, are there any changes that should be made to the scope of the annual audit?

Ask the Internal Auditor	
•	A re you aware of any significant changes in internal control that might need to be reported in the 10-Q? 
•	A re you aware of any changes in processes for formulating any accounting estimates not discussed by the external auditors? 
•	A re you aware of any changes in accounting policies or their applications not reported on by the external auditors? 

Ask Accounting Management	
•	 What is the proposed audit fee for the current year and how does it compare to the prior year?6

•	 Were there any major changes in operations? 
•	 What significant variances from the prior period and/or budgeted results occurred during the quarter, and what were the reasons? 
•	 Were there any disagreements with the external auditors? If so, how were they resolved?

4  In practice, this discussion would typically be held early in the year prior to services being performed (e.g., first quarter).
5  See above footnote.
6  In practice, this discussion would typically be held earlier in the year in conjunction with approval of audit and non-audit services.
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uSample Audit Committee Questions to Ask of Auditors and Management continued

Pre-Earnings Release Meeting

Ask the External Auditor

•	 Did the scope of the audit differ from the audit plan? 
•	� Were you provided with all the information you requested? Do you have any reason to believe that information was withheld from you or 

that management representations were incorrect? 
•	 Did the Company or its counsel impose any limitations on you? 
•	 Did you observe any areas of serious concern over the corporate control environment? Were any integrity or honesty concerns noted? 
•	 Did you detect any material errors, fraud, illegal acts or significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the internal control system? 
•	 Were there any significant changes in financial statement amounts from the prior year? What were the causes of the changes? 
•	 Did you have enough time to complete all phases of your audit? When do you expect to complete your audit? 
•	 Will your opinion be unmodified? If not, why? 
•	� (For multi-location engagements) How did you ensure that work performed by your audit firm in other locations has been pre-approved 

and does not impair independence?
•	 Did management consult with you on tax matters? Is the liability for taxes adequate to cover potential assessments? 
•	� Did you provide any tax services to the Company or its executive offers of the type that would impair your independence under the 

PCAOB’s rules on ethics and tax services? 
•	� Were there any disagreements regarding accounting, auditing or reporting matters between you and management? If so, how were they 

resolved? 
•	 Did management pressure you on contentious issues by threatening to “shop” for other auditors? 
•	 Were any adjustments or disclosures proposed by you not recorded by the Company? 
•	A re there any unresolved matters?
•	�A re the accounting principles used by the Company overly conservative or aggressive? What would be the effect of using alternative 

principles? Do the accounting principles conform to industry practice? 
•	 Were there any changes in accounting principles? 
•	�H ow did you satisfy yourself as to the reasonableness of any significant accruals or estimates made by management (e.g., doubtful 

accounts, valuation allowances, environmental contingencies, etc.)? 
•	 Were there any unusual items that affected earnings? Are they properly accounted for and will they be adequately disclosed? 
•	 Did you review information furnished to other experts (e.g., actuaries)? 
•	� Did you provide the Company with advice and assistance in reviewing the financial statements of merger candidates prior to their 

acquisition during the year? Are material risks and uncertainties properly accounted for and will they be adequately disclosed? 
•	A re you satisfied that there is no substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a “going concern”? 
•	 When do you expect to issue your report? 
•	A re there any significant concerns about information systems and their ability to process, record and report financial transactions? 
•	 Did the Company enter into any contingent fee arrangements with you?

Ask the Internal Auditor

•	 What was the extent of your work on the audit and were there any changes to the scope of work performed?
•	 Was there adequate coordination with the external auditors?
•	 Did management impose any limitations on you? 
•	 Were any significant problems encountered? 
•	A re you aware of any actual or possible illegal or questionable payments? 
•	A re you aware of any conflicts of interest between officers or employees and the Company? 
•	�A re you aware of any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control not identified by management or the external 

auditors?
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Pre-Earnings Release Meeting

Ask Accounting Management

•	 What was your reaction to the audit findings? 
•	 Were there any disagreements between you and the external auditor? If so, how were they resolved? 
•	A re the financial statements fairly presented? 
•	 What are the reasons for financial statement variations from the prior year? 
•	� What was the substance of significant issues raised by either corporate or outside counsel, and how are these matters reflected in the 

financial statements? 
•	 Did you consider any changes in accounting principles that were not ultimately adopted? 
•	 Did you seek the opinions of other auditing firms on any accounting or auditing issues? 
•	 Were there any significant fourth quarter adjustments and, if so, why weren’t they made in earlier quarters? 
•	 Were any problems or difficulties identified as a result of the audit that we should know about? 
•	 What is your opinion of the auditing services performed by the external auditor? 
•	� Were any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses identified and communicated to us pervasive across the Company or were they 

limited to a specific location or account? Have these been remediated?
•	� Were there any other deficiencies identified by you that were not reported to the audit committee (whether or not they have been 

remediated)?
•	 Were there any errors or adjustments noted by you that were not recorded?

uSample Audit Committee Questions to Ask of Auditors and Management continued

Post-Earnings Release Meeting

Ask the External Auditor	

•	� Were there any related party transactions noted as a result of your audit? Are the transactions properly recognized and disclosed in the 
financial statements? 

•	�H ow did you satisfy yourself that pending or threatened lawsuits are not likely to have a material effect on the financial statements? Has 
management provided adequate disclosures within the financial statements?

•	� In your review of other documents prepared by management (e.g., MD&A, CD&A, management’s report on internal control over financial 
reporting, proxy statement, etc.), did you identify any inconsistencies or material misstatements of fact?

•	� What is management’s attitude toward establishing strong internal controls? Do they set an effective example for the entire Company? 
Do they follow-up on suggested changes? Were weaknesses reported by you last year remediated? Was management receptive to your 
recommendations?

•	�A re there any material weaknesses in the Company’s internal controls that have not been remediated, including computer security controls? 
Are appropriate changes being instituted? 

•	 Did you encounter any difficulties in obtaining the management representation letter or any specific representations? 
•	 What business advice do you have for the Company? 
•	H ow do you evaluate the Company’s tax planning?
•	� What is your general assessment of the integrity and competence of the Company’s financial, accounting, computer and internal audit staffs? 

Are they respected groups within the Company? Are they effective? What improvements would you recommend? 
•	H ow do actual engagement fees incurred for the year compare to the estimated fees? 
•	 What percentage are the audit fees for this engagement in relation to your firm’s total fees? Is that material? 
•	 What can the Company do to reduce the audit time? 
•	 What are the advantages to the Company in continuing its relationship with your firm? 
•	A re there any other items that should be discussed with the audit committee?
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Post-Earnings Release Meeting

Ask the Internal Auditor	

•	A re you aware of any related party transactions not disclosed in the financial statements? 
•	A re you aware of any management perquisites not included in officers’ reported compensation? 
•	 What are the department’s goals and objectives for this year? 
•	 What will be the scope of your activities this year? 
•	H ow will you monitor the Company’s code of conduct? 
•	 Do you feel your staffing is adequate?
•	 What additional work could you do to reduce the work of the external auditor? 
•	 What is your evaluation of the external auditor’s services for the past year? 
•	A re the Company’s systems functioning with maximum efficiency at minimum cost? 
•	 What is your assessment of the capabilities of management?
•	A re there any other items that should be discussed with the audit committee?

Ask Accounting Management

•	 What is your reaction to the suggestions contained in the external auditor’s management letter? 
•	 What actions do you contemplate in response to these suggestions? 
•	 What is your evaluation of the external auditor’s services this past year? 
•	 What significant changes do you foresee for the Company this year? 
•	A re there any other items that should be discussed with the audit committee? 

uSample Audit Committee Questions to Ask of Auditors and Management continued
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uAuditor Required Communications with Audit 
Committees

Communications for All Audits Authoritative Guidance
An overview of planned scope and timing of audit AICPA SAS 61 ¶02

AICPA SAS 114 ¶29-33

Auditor responsibility under generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) and PCAOB Standards AICPA SAS 61 ¶06
AICPA SAS 114 ¶26-28

Methods of accounting for significant unusual transactions and effects of policies in controversial 
or emerging areas (e.g., revenue recognition, off-balance sheet financing; and accounting for equity 
investments)

AICPA SAS 61 ¶07
AICPA SAS 114 Appendix B

Management judgments and accounting estimates AICPA SAS 61 ¶08
AICPA SAS 114 ¶37-38 and Appendix B

Auditor’s judgment about the quality of the company’s accounting principles AICPA SAS 90 ¶11
AICPA SAS 114 ¶37-38 and Appendix B

Adoption of or change in an accounting principle AICPA SAS 61 ¶07
AICPA SAS 114 Appendix B

Material, corrected misstatements brought to the attention of management by the auditor AICPA SAS 61¶09
AICPA SAS 114 ¶35

Unrecorded misstatements, other than those the auditor believes to be trivial AICPA SAS 61¶09
AICPA SAS 114 ¶40-41

Other information in documents containing audited financial statements (e.g., MD&A) AICPA SAS 61¶10
AICPA SAS 114 ¶28

Disagreements with management AICPA SAS 61¶11
AICPA SAS 114 ¶42

Consultation with other accountants AICPA SAS 61¶12
AICPA SAS 114 ¶43

Major issues discussed with management prior to retention (initial or recurring) AICPA SAS 61¶13
AICPA SAS 114 ¶44

Significant issues discussed with management (i.e., business considerations, business plans and 
strategies)

AICPA SAS 114 ¶44 

Significant difficulties encountered during the audit AICPA SAS 61¶14 
AICPA SAS 114 ¶39

Fraud and illegal acts AICPA SAS 99
AICPA SAS 54

Representations requested from management SEC Section 10A (k)(3)
AICPA SAS 114

Other issues arising from the audit the auditor considers significant and relevant to those charged 
with governance

SEC Section 10A
AICPA SAS 114 ¶34e

Significant deficiencies and material weaknesses identified during the audit/ integrated audit PCAOB AS 5 and conforming amendments
AICPA SAS 115

Independence AICPA SAS 114 ¶45-47
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Additional Communications for Audits of Public Issuers Authoritative Guidance
AC pre-approval of services SEC Section 10A Audit 

Requirements (i)(1)(A)

Critical accounting policies and practices SEC Section 10A Audit
Requirements (k)(1) and FRR No. 60

Material alternative accounting treatments discussed with management SEC Section 10A Audit
Requirements (k)(2)

Other material written communications with management (e.g., management letters and 
schedules of material adjusted differences and unadjusted differences, if any, etc.)

SEC Section 10A Audit.
Requirements (k)(3)

Independence matters PCAOB Rule 3526

Additional Communications for Integrated Audits Authoritative Guidance
Scope of audit of internal control over financial reporting [for purposes of seeking audit committee 
pre-approval of service]

PCAOB Rule 3525 ¶a

Communication that the auditor has informed management of all deficiencies in internal control 
identified during the audit

PCAOB AS 5 ¶81

[If applicable] Communication that a material weakness(es) was (were) not disclosed or identified 
as such in management’s assessment of internal control

PCAOB AS 5 ¶91 Note

[If applicable] Auditor’s belief that the required disclosure about a material weakness is not fairly 
presented in all material respects within management’s reporting on internal control

PCAOB AS 5 Appendix C ¶2

[If applicable] Auditor’s conclusion that the audit of internal control over financial reporting cannot 
be satisfactorily completed and he or she cannot express an opinion because there has been a 
limitation on the scope of the audit

PCAOB AS 5 Appendix C ¶7

[If applicable] Additional information within management’s report on internal control contains a 
material misstatement of fact

PCAOB AS 5 Appendix C ¶14

[If applicable] Auditor’s belief that management’s Section 302 disclosures about changes in internal 
control require modification

PCAOB AS 5 Appendix C ¶15

Additional Communications for Audits of NYSE Registrants Authoritative Guidance
Auditor’s internal quality-control procedures NYSE Corporate Governance Standards – 

Section 303A.07(c)(iii)(A)

Material issues raised in quality control reviews w/in preceding 5 years and action taken NYSE Corporate Governance Standards – 
Section 303A.07(c)(iii)(A)

Assess independence with regard to all relationships b/t auditor and the company NYSE Corporate Governance Standards – 
Section 303A.07(c)(iii)(A)

uAuditor Required Communications with Audit Committees continued
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uStrengthening Corporate Governance: 
Effective Mechanisms for Reporting, Investigating  
and Remediating Fraud
There are numerous resources available that guide those charged with governance (referred to as audit committees) toward building programs to 
include anti-fraud controls and cultivation of anti-fraud environments.1 When put into place and followed, these programs go a long way in the 
prevention and deterrence of fraud. However, even when the strongest fraud prevention programs are in place and operating as designed, fraud may 
still occur.  This practice aid is intended to briefly cover the key elements of an anti-fraud environment and responsibilities for such with emphasis 
on the structure, policies and procedures that audit committees need to ensure are in place before fraud occurs and the specific action steps to take 
if and when alleged fraud is suspected. 

Let’s first dispel some common misconceptions:
Myth:  Handling alleged instances of fraud committed within an organization is solely the responsibility of company management.

Truth:  Establishing effective mechanisms for the reporting, investigating and remediating of fraud is a shared responsibility with the company’s 
audit committee:

Section 301 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act specifically requires the audit committee “to establish procedures for the receipt, retention, and 
treatment of complaints received by the issuer regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters; and the confidential, 
anonymous submission by employees of the issuer of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.”

The SEC’s interpretative guidance for management with respect to internal controls2 states: “Management’s evaluation of the risk 
of misstatement should include consideration of the vulnerability of the entity to fraudulent activity (for example, fraudulent financial 
reporting, misappropriation of assets, and corruption), and whether any such exposure could result in a material misstatement of the financial 
statements. Management should recognize that the risk of material misstatement due to fraud ordinarily exists in any organization, regardless 
of size or type, and it may vary by specific location or segment and by individual financial reporting element...” While the SEC’s guidance does 
not specifically address the role of the audit committee, it does note: “We would ordinarily expect a board of directors or audit committee, 
as part of its oversight responsibilities for the company’s financial reporting, to be reasonably knowledgeable and informed about the 
evaluation process and management’s assessment as necessary in the circumstances.”

Additional guidance may be found in auditing literature including PCAOB Auditing Standards (AU 316) that state: “…it is management’s 
responsibility to design and implement programs and controls to prevent, deter and detect fraud… Management, along with those charged 
with governance, should set the proper tone, create and maintain a culture of honesty and high ethical standards… When management and 
those charged with governance fulfill those responsibilities, the opportunities to commit fraud can be reduced significantly.3

Myth:  Fraud is primarily found in large, multi-national organizations.

Truth:  Fraud is not limited to companies of a certain size and composition.  A finding of the 2010 study released by COSO, “Fraudulent Financial 
Reporting: 1998-2007 – An Analysis of U.S. Public Companies,”4 indicates that the companies charged with fraudulent reporting by the SEC, as 
represented within the study over a ten-year period, included startups with no assets or revenues as well as much larger companies. 

Myth:  It is not possible to predict potential fraud before it happens, so creating a plan in advance to deal with suspected fraud would be a waste of 
time and resources.

Truth:  While not every instance of fraud may be predictable, companies and their audit committees are best served by gaining an understanding 
of fraud risk factors and establishing a plan in advance to deal with suspected fraud expeditiously if and when it arises rather than scrambling to 
identify and pull together adequate resources in the midst of a crisis.

1	 Refer to the appendix of this practice aid for a listing of several recommended anti-fraud program resources 
2	 Refer to SEC interpretative release Commission Guidance Regarding Management’s Reporting on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Under Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 available at: http://www.sec.gov/rules/interp/2007/33-8810.pdf 
3	 Refer to paragraphs .01-.12 of the AICPA’s Statement on Auditing Standards No. 99, “Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit,” which is included in the PCAOB’s interim 
standards (AU 316) available at: http://pcaobus.org/Standards/Auditing/Pages/AU316.aspx
4	 Refer to the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission’s (COSO) 2010 study “Fraudulent Financial Reporting: 1998-2007 – An Analysis of U.S. Public 
Companies” available at: http://www.coso.org/documents/COSOFRAUDSTUDY2010.pdf 

http://www.sec.gov/rules/interp/2007/33-8810.pdf
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Creating an Anti-Fraud Environment
Building an anti-fraud environment can serve to significantly reduce the risk of fraud and increase the likelihood that, if fraud does occur, it will be 
detected at an early stage.

Step 1:  Understanding the fraud risk factors an organization faces. This requires an on-going assessment of risks along with the controls that a 
company has in place to mitigate those risks on an enterprise-wide basis. The activities associated with building a company’s fraud risk profile 
include:

•	� identifying susceptibility of the organization to various types of fraud (e.g., asset misappropriation, financial reporting fraud and corruption) and 
who is likely to commit fraud (e.g., internal - management, employees; external);

•	� understanding industry “red flags;” 

•	� determining likelihood and significance of potential frauds; and

•	� assessing effectiveness of anti-fraud controls in place.

Step 2: Setting the tone at the top with regard to the effectiveness and visibility of board and audit committee oversight. The activities associated 
with oversight include:

•	� understanding what the most significant fraud risks are and where the organization may be susceptible to pressure, opportunity and rationalization 
to commit fraud (“warning signs”)

•	� reviewing significant relevant transactions, asking difficult and probing questions, and developing alternative sources of information about what is 
happening in the company with respect to fraud risks

•	� evaluating the programs and controls that management has developed for managing fraud risks

•	� cultivating an ethical corporate culture by ensuring a comprehensive and accessible Code of Conduct is developed and actively supported by 
management and the audit committee

•	� independently assessing and monitoring effectiveness of the anti-fraud environment on a periodic basis.

Step 3: Evaluating the organizational structure in relation to existing anti-fraud policies and procedures. The activities associated with this 
step rely on consideration of the: 

•	� susceptibility of the organization structure to fraud – e.g., opportunity for management override of internal controls; locations where cultural 
differences may overtly or inadvertently lead to the occurrence of fraud

•	� effectiveness of policies and procedures designed to prevent/detect fraud – e.g.,  performing background investigations of newly hired employees 
and existing employees on a periodic basis, establishing whistle-blower hotlines, disclosure to regulatory and law enforcement authorities, and 
developing controls over information security and records retention

•	� development of protocols and procedures in advance to handle suspected fraud if and when it does occur.

See CAQ Guidance section for the Center for Audit Quality’s (CAQ’s) 10 question guide for audit committees in exercising skepticism when 
inquiring about financial reporting fraud. 
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Effective Mechanisms for Reporting, Investigating and Remediating Fraud
Even when there is effective oversight and the risk of fraud within an organization is significantly reduced as a result, there is always the possibility 
that fraud will still occur. So, what does the audit committee need to do now to detect fraud at an early stage and be able to remediate the system 
of internal control and minimize damage?

As required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, public entities are required to maintain effective whistleblower hotlines to handle employees’ 
allegations of financial reporting fraud. In addition to these hotlines, allegations of fraud can be identified through many other sources including 
external and internal auditors, consultants, customers, vendors, anonymous tips, the SEC5 and others. Regardless of the source, audit committees 
should demand immediate access to information supporting allegations of significant fraud occurring within the organization and give such matters 
the highest priority. 

Once suspected fraud comes to the attention of the audit committee, it should evaluate the need to conduct an independent investigation6 into 
the alleged fraud. Fiduciary responsibility is first and foremost! The focus of independent investigations involves the following protocols and scoping 
considerations and often needs to be a flexible and an iterative process.  The audit committee may fulfill its responsibility by engaging investigative 
counsel and forensic accountants, as appropriate7:

•	� identify who should be involved, both within and external to the company

•	� define specific roles and responsibilities of individuals  

•	� perform an initial assessment to gather evidence and determine the potential scope/magnitude of the fraud

•	� identify individuals to interview and conduct thorough interviews

•	� determine additional procedures required (e.g., computer-assisted data analysis techniques, customer calls/confirmations, etc.)

•	� ensure regulatory or statutory requirements are appropriately met

•	� evaluate results and remediate

•	� determine whether disciplinary actions are appropriate or criminal charges should be brought

•	� ensure proper disclosures are made

•	� document findings (how the matter arose; who was involved; who was interviewed; what other evidence was discovered; how the matter was 
handled; results and why certain conclusions were reached and how they were communicated)

•	� based upon above, take preventive measures for the future, including making enhancements to internal controls 

Regardless of whether an investigation is conducted in-house or is outsourced to an independent third party, the audit committee must be involved 
in every step of the process and must have a plan in place in advance to “triage” instances of suspected fraud to ensure that it is handled properly 
and handled by the right individuals. Along these lines, a best practice is to cultivate relationships with external advisors before their services may be 
needed. Audit committees need to be prepared to spend time and effort throughout the process, as these investigations often take on a life of their 
own. At the end of this experience, ensure that there is proper reflection on what went wrong and that adjustments are made to policies, procedures 
and controls and that education is provided throughout the organization to help prevent future recurrence.

For further guidance on conducting investigations, refer to the BDO Consulting’s “Investigative Tips for the Non-Investigator” publication available 
at: http://www.bdoconsulting.com/resources/thought-leaders/investigative%20tips.pdf

Summary
Facing allegations of fraud within an organization can be a frustrating and challenging time for those charged with governance. Cultivating an 
ethical culture and having established policies/procedures and identified resources in advance of fraud allegations will allow those with oversight 
responsibility the wherewithal to react quickly and effectively to combat fraud and minimize the damage to the organization. 

5	 T he SEC may issue a letter known as a Wells Notice to individuals or companies when it is planning to bring an enforcement action against them. The Wells Notice indicates that 
the SEC staff has determined it may bring a civil action against an individual or company, and provides the opportunity to the individual or company to provide information as to why the 
enforcement action should not be brought.
6	 Refer to the Ac’senseSM November 2010 Internal Investigation program for further insight into conducting an effective and efficient internal investigation at: http://www.bdo.com/
acsense/events/InternalInvestigations.aspx. 
7	 N ote: Many of the protocols outlined can and should be established before fraud occurs and should be considered as part of the audit committee’s creation of an anti-fraud 
environment.
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CAQ Guidance: Inquiring about Financial Reporting Fraud – A Guide for Audit 
Committees8

The following is a list of questions prepared as a guide for audit committees excerpted from the Center for Audit Quality’s (CAQ’s) 2010 report, 
“Deterring and Detecting Financial Reporting Fraud – A Platform for Action.” The questions were prepared by the CAQ as a starting point in order 
to “advance the thinking of audit committees around the most likely sources of weakness, with a particular eye for business pressures that may 
influence accounting judgments or decisions.” Audit committees should customize these questions further to apply to their organizations:

1.	 What are the potential sources of business influence on the accounting staff’s judgments or determinations?

2.	 What pressures for performance may potentially affect financial reporting?

3.	 What about the way the company operates causes concern or stress?

4.	 What areas of the company’s accounting tend to take up the most time?

5.	 What kind of input into accounting determinations does non-financial management have?

6.	 What are the areas of accounting about which you are most worried?

7.	 What are the areas of recurring disagreement or problems?

8.	 How does the company use technology to search for an unnatural accounting activity?

9.	 If a Wall Street Journal article were to appear about the company’s accounting, what would it most likely talk about?

10.	 If someone wanted to adjust the financial results at headquarters, how would they go about it and would anything stop them?

8	 Refer to the CAQ’s report on “Deterring and Detecting Financial Reporting Fraud – A Call to Action” available at: http://www.thecaq.org/Anti-FraudInitiative/CAQAnti-
FraudReport.pdf.
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Recommended Anti-Fraud Program Resources9:
•	� BDO Consulting’s Fraud Prevention Program includes the following elements designed to assist management and audit committees in the 

prevention, detection and remediation of fraud:

	 –	Fraud risk assessment

	 –	Fraud education

	 –	Ethics awareness and education 

	 –	Background investigations 

	 –	Mechanisms for reporting and investigating fraud 

	 –	Board and audit committee oversight 

For further information on how BDO Consulting can assist your company in forming an effective anti-fraud program, please visit: http://www.
bdoconsulting.com/services/fraud-prevention-consulting.aspx

•	� BDO’s Ac’senseSM program includes several CPE-worthy webinars/self-study courses on the topics of ethics (e.g., Ethics and the Corporate Board) 
and fraud within the Focus on Fraud Series:

	 –	Internal Investigations (2010)

	 –	Focus on Fraud: Lessons Learned (2010)

	 –	Focus on Fraud: Fraud and Misconduct in the Corporate World (2009)

	 –	Focus on Fraud: The Series Continues (2009)

For further information and access to archived courses, visit: http://www.bdo.com./acsense/archive.aspx

The CAQ’s anti-fraud initiative site is available at: http://www.thecaq.org/Anti-FraudInitiative/index.htm. As part of this initiative, consider the 
CAQ’s 2010 report “Deterring and Detecting Financial Reporting Fraud – A Platform for Action,” which focuses on financial reporting fraud at publicly-
traded companies of all sizes and is available at: http://www.thecaq.org/Anti-FraudInitiative/CAQAnti-FraudReport.pdf.

Association of Certified Fraud Examiners’ (ACFE) Fraud Resources available at: http://www.acfe.com/resources/resources.asp

The AICPA Anti-Fraud and Corporate Responsibility Center provides various tools and information to professionals in combating fraud available 
within: http://www.aicpa.org

AICPA Fraud and Forensics publications – while aimed at CPAs, these resources may provide additional guidance useful to management and audit 
committees and are available at: http://www.aicpa.org/Publications/Fraud/Pages/Fraud.aspx

9	 A t the time of release of this practice aid, the PCAOB has announced that it is in the process of establishing the Financial Reporting Fraud Resource Center to facilitate the prevention 
and detection of financial reporting fraud. Its primary objectives will be to maintain and develop information related to financial reporting fraud, which can arise from a broad array of 
factors, including accounting and disclosure, auditing, corporate governance, insider trading, executive compensation, economic and other environmental circumstances, among other 
things. The Center will publish public reports on risks, and assist in developing educational materials, related to financial reporting fraud.
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1.	 Note: In June 2010, the U.S. Supreme Court issued a ruling that gives the SEC broader power to remove PCAOB members “at will” (rather than just “for cause”) while 
upholding the constitutionality of the establishment of the PCAOB itself, allowing the PCAOB to continue without interruption to carry out is mission of oversight of 
public company audits.

2.	 Refer to COSO “Fraudulent Financial Reporting: 1998-2007 – An Analysis of U.S. Public Companies” at: http://www.coso.org/documents/COSOFRAUDSTUDY2010.
pdf.

3.	 Source: Executive summary of the COSO framework, which may be accessed within the COSO website at: http://www.coso.org/guidance.htm.

4.	 Refer to AICPA’s Audit Committee Toolkit Private Companies available for purchase at: http://www.aicpa.org/Pages/Default.aspx

5.	 Source: Renaissance Capital IPO Home website as September 28, 2010 – http://www.renaissancecapital.com/IPOHome/Press/IPOPricings.aspx 

6.	 Refer to a September 2010 article “A Closer Look at the IPO Pipeline: What Lies Ahead” posted by Renaissance Capital available at: http://www.renaissancecapital.com/
IPOHome/Review/2010Pipeline.pdf

7.	 Refer to an article highlighting the Thomson Reuters/Freeman Consulting poll released in November 2010 available at: http://www.reuters.com/article/
idUSTRE6AE1F220101115

8.	 Smaller reporting companies, as currently defined in SEC Regulation S-K, who are listed in the American Stock Exchange (NYSE AMEX) are required to have an audit 
committee of at least two members, comprised of solely independent directors.

9.	 The NACD publication contains very useful summaries and appendices and is available for purchase on the NACD website at: http://www.nacdonline.org/.

10.	 Along with the interpretative guidance with respect to disclosure of liquidity and capital resources, the SEC issued in September 2010 a proposed rule requiring 
enhanced disclosures regarding short-term borrowings within MD&A. The proposing and interpretive releases are available at: http://www.sec.gov/rules/
proposed/2010/33-9143.pdf and http://www.sec.gov/rules/interp/2010/33-9144.pdf 

11.	 The Center for Audit Quality (CAQ) was established by members of the public company auditing profession along with the AICPA to create a public policy and information 
forum to help serve investors, public company auditors and the markets. The CAQ’s mission is to make the audit process more reliable and useful for investors in the face 
of growing financial complexity and market globalization.

12.	 Refer to Center for Audit Quality “Report on the Survey of Audit Committee Members” (March 2008) available at: http://www.thecaq.com/resources/caqresearch.htm.

13.	 Refer to the NACD’s Directors Registry accessible via: http://www.nacdonline.org/.

14.	 Readers may refer to BDO’s Shareholder Questions publication for further insight into key questions to consider with regard to audit committees and their responsibilities 
at: http://www.bdo.com/publications/assurance/.

15.	 The AICPA’s Audit Committee Effectiveness website has numerous resources available for purchase, including its Audit Committee Toolkits for public companies and, for 
private companies, respectively.

16.	 Readers may refer to BDO’s Financial Reporting Letter – March 2003, SEC Meets Sarbanes-Oxley Rulemaking Deadline, for a summary of preapproval along with other 
significant requirements at: http://www.bdo.com/publications/assurance/finrptnl/fr_mar_2403/.

17.	 Refer to the SEC’s final rule 33-8183, Strengthening the Commission’s Requirements Regarding Auditor Independence at: http://www.sec.gov/rules/final/33-8183.
htm.

18.	 Refer to the December 11, 2006 speech delivered by Michael Husich of the Office of the Chief Accountant of the SEC at: http://www.sec.gov/news/speech/2006/
spch121106mwh.htm.

19.	 The “Report of the NACD Blue Ribbon Commission on The Audit Committee” is referred to throughout this publication and may be purchased on the NACD’s website at: 
www.nacdonline.org/.

20.	 The PCAOB has issued and the SEC has approved ethics and independence rule, Rule 3526, Communication with Audit Committees Concerning Independence, that 
supersedes the PCAOB’s interim independence requirements, Independence Standards Board No. 1, Independence Discussion with Audit Committees (“ISB No. 1”) and two 
related interpretations.

21.	 PCAOB Interim Standards along with PCAOB AS 5 are available at: www.pcaob.org.

22.	 Note: AICPA SAS 114, The Auditor’s Communication with Those Charged with Governance, extends communication guidance contained in SAS 61 to those charged with 
governance of nonpublic companies while AICPA SAS 115, Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit, requires the auditor to communicate in 
writing to those charged with governance of nonpublic companies significant deficiencies and material weaknesses identified during the financial statement audit similar 
to requirements in AS 5 for integrated audits of public companies. Both SAS 115 and 114 are available at: www.aicpa.org.

23.	 Excerpted from the PCAOB September 2010 Roundtable Communications with Audit Committees briefing document available at: http://pcaobus.org/Rules/
Rulemaking/Docket030/Briefing_Paper.pdf.

24.	 Refer to Section 406 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 – Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers.

25.	 This publication may be downloaded from the AICPA’s website at: http://www.aicpa.org/ForThePublic/AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/DownloadableDocuments/
achilles_heel.pdf.

26.	 Excerpted from “Roundtable: The 2010 Audit Committee Agenda – Uncertainty Rules” included within the NACD Directorship April/May 2010 publication. This article 
summarizes chief concerns of audit committees as discussed at the 2010 annual Audit Committee Issues Conference sponsored by the NACD, KPMG’s Audit Committee 
Institute, Weil Gotshal & Manges and the University of Miami. Refer to the NACD website for further information at: http://www.nacdonline.org/.

27.	 Refer to paragraphs .01-.12 of Statement on Auditing Standard No. 99, “Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit,” which is included in the PCAOB’s interim 
standards (AU 316) available at: http://pcaobus.org/Standards/Auditing/Pages/AU316.aspx. 
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28.	 Refer to “The Fraud Diamond: Considering the Four Elements of Fraud,” an article by David Wolfe and Dana Hermanson published in the CPA Journal (December 2004) and 
available at: http://www.nysscpa.org/cpajournal/2004/1204/essentials/p38.htm. 

29.	 Refer to COSO “Fraudulent Financial Reporting: 1998-2007 – An Analysis of U.S. Public Companies” at: http://www.coso.org/documents/COSOFRAUDSTUDY2010.
pdf.

30.	 Refer to the CAQ’s “Deterring and Detecting Financial Reporting Fraud – A Platform for Action” available at: http://www.thecaq.org/Anti-FraudInitiative/CAQAnti-
FraudReport.pdf.

31.	 Refer to page 22 of the CAQ’s “Deterring and Detecting Financial Reporting Fraud – A Platform for Action” available at: http://www.thecaq.org/Anti-FraudInitiative/
CAQAnti-FraudReport.pdf.

32.	 For further information on BDOC’s Fraud Prevention Program or BDOC’s Investigations & Compliance and Risk Advisory Practices visit: http://www.bdoconsulting.
com/services/consultingservices.aspx.

33.	 Refer to further guidance contained within the AICPA’s “Management Override of Internal Controls: The Achilles Heel of Fraud Prevention” available at: http://www.aicpa.
org/ForThePublic/AuditCommitteeEffectiveness/DownloadableDocuments/achilles_heel.pdf.

34.	 Refer to the FCPA Enforcement document “The FCPA Explained” available at: http://www.fcpaenforcement.com/explained/explained.asp.

35.	 Refer to Compliance Week article by Melissa Klein Aguilar issued July 13, 2010, “Audit Committee Checklist: FCPA Compliance” at: http://www.complianceweek.com/.

36.	 For further information on BDOC’s Investigations & Compliance and Risk Advisory Practices visit: http://www.bdoconsulting.com/services/consultingservices.aspx.

37.	 Note: For those companies currently subject to audits of internal control over financial reporting, findings and recommendations made by the auditor may be 
communicated in conjunction with discussion of the audit of ICFR.

38.	 Refer to AICPA’s Audit Committee Toolkit Private Companies available for purchase at: http://www.aicpa.org/Pages/Default.aspx.

39.	 Refer to footnote 22 within the SEC Commission Guidance Regarding Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Under Section 13(a) or 15(d) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 available at: http://www.sec.gov/rules/interp/2007/33-8810.pdf. 

40.	 Refer to ¶79 of PCAOB AS 5 available at: http://pcaobus.org/Pages/default.aspx.

41.	 Source: Executive summary of the COSO framework, which may be accessed within the COSO website at: http://www.coso.org/guidance.htm. 

42.	 Note: AICPA SAS 115, as it pertains to nonpublic companies, aligns the definitions of significant deficiencies and material weaknesses with those included in PCAOB AS 5. 
SAS 115 also requires the auditor to communicate in writing to the audit committee or those charged with governance of nonpublic companies SDs and MWs identified 
during the course of the audit. Refer to the earlier section on required communications. SAS 115 is effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after 
December 15, 2009, with earlier implementation permitted. 

43.	 Refer to BDO’s Attitudes to IFRS v2.0 available at: http://www.bdo.com/ifrs/. 

44.	 Refer to BDO Knows: Federal Tax September 2010, which summarizes two IFRS announcements (2010-75 and 2010-76) regarding implementation guidance for the IRS’ 
Schedule UTP 9Uncertain Tax Position) at: http://www.bdo.com/download/1463.

45.	 Refer to NACD Directorship article in the December 2010/January 2011 edition entitled: “In Practice – Listen Closely: Is that a Whistle Blowing Or a Slot Machine Ringing?” 
by Anthony Lendez and Nicole Sliger of BDO Consulting.

46.	 The “Report of the NACD Blue Ribbon Commission on The Audit Committee” is referred to throughout this publication and may be purchased on the NACD’s website at: 
www.nacdonline.org/.

47.	 Refer to the SEC’s final rule 33-8220, Standards Relating to Listed Company Audit Committees – Section II. Discussion – E. Funding at: http://www.sec.gov/rules/
final/33-8220.htm.

48.	 Management letters, when and if issued, typically include recommendations for improvement provided by the auditor to management based upon observations made 
during the course of the audit. See earlier discussion.

49.	 The AICPA’s Audit Committee Effectiveness website has numerous resources available for purchase, including its Audit Committee Toolkits for public companies and, for 
private companies, respectively.

50.	 The AICPA’s Audit Committee Effectiveness website has numerous resources available for purchase, including its Audit Committee Toolkits for public companies and, for 
private companies, respectively.

51.	 Excerpted from the Report of the New York Stock Exchange Commission on Corporate Governance issued September 23, 2010 accessible via: http://www.nyse.com/pdfs/
CCGReport.pdf.

52.	 Note: The NYSE requires audit committees to perform an annual self-assessment under 303A.07(c)(ii) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual available at: http://www.
nyse.com/regulation/listed/1182508124422.html.

53.	 The AICPA’s Audit Committee Effectiveness website has numerous resources available for purchase, including its Audit Committee Toolkits for public companies and, for 
private companies, respectively.
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